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This annual report covers both Centrebet International Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of 
Centrebet International Limited, its subsidiaries and CK Racing. 

Centrebet International Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and 
principal place of business is:

110 Bourke Road
Alexandria NSW 2015
AUSTRALIA

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’ Report 
on page 20.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is available globally to the shareholders. All press 
releases, financial statements and other information is available on our website: www.centrebet.com.

For queries in relation to our reporting, please contact Investor Relations on (+61 2) 9206 8933.
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financial highlights
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

Net profit after tax of $13.0 million for FY20081         

       FY2008 FY2007 
       Actual Actual  Change
       $m   $m % 

Revenue
Wagering     45.6 47.1  -3% 
Casino      12.6   7.1  76%  
Poker       4.5   4.7  -4%  

Total Revenue     62.7  58.9  6% 

Wagering Win Rate     5.4% 6.1% 
Casino Win Rate     2.8% 2.7% 

Other Income2     2.1   2.0  4%  

Expenses     47.3 46.4  2% 

EBITDA     17.4  14.5  20% 

EBITDA Margin     27.8% 24.6% 13%

Depreciation & Amortisation     2.2  1.8  20%  

EBIT      15.3  12.7  20% 
EBIT Margin     24.4% 21.5% 13%

Interest Expense     0.3  0.2  114%  

Operating Profit Before Tax      14.9  12.5  19% 
Income tax expense     1.9  1.4  39%  

Net Profit After Tax         13.0   11.1   17%

1 Actual figures are rounded to one decimal place. Percentage change is calculated using actual figures.
2 Other income includes foreign exchange gains/(losses), as well as interest revenue and credit card fee income.
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Cost control and 
operational 
improvements has 
contributed to excellent 
EBITDA growth of 
20% to $17.4 million, 
significant improvement 
in earnings margins and 
NPAT growth of 17% to 
$13.0 million.

Centrebet is well 
positioned to capitalise 
on the pending 
deregulation of the 
Australian wagering 
market, experiencing 
14% growth in turnover.

13% growth in total 
dividends to 10.5 cents 
per share.

444

 Total turnover increased 
by 25% to $1.3 billion 
driven by outstanding 
Casino growth of 72% 
to $445.7 million and 
strong wagering growth 
of 9% to $845.1 million.

Total revenue grew by 
6% to $62.7 million, a 
strong result considering 
a decline in the wagering 
win rate from 6.1% to 
5.4%. Underpinning 
overall growth was 
Gaming revenue’s 
outstanding growth of 
44% to $17.1 million.

Gaming revenue 
growth attributable to 
exceptional growth from 
Casino revenues of 76% 
to $12.6 million and 
driven by the launch 
of the Company’s VIP 
program, Fixed Odds 
Games (FOGs) and 
cross‑selling of Casino 
games to the Company’s 
non‑Australian wagering 
customer base.

44 4

Continued double digit 
growth with net profit 
after tax increasing 
by 17% to $13.0 million.”

“
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chairman and  
managing director’s 
report

Dear Shareholder
We are pleased to report that FY2008 was another successful 
year following our maiden year of trading on the Australian 
Securities Exchange in FY2007.

The Company has delivered on its core initiatives and key 
financial targets including a 17% growth, in NPAT to 
$13.0 million, very strong turnover growth, improved earnings 
margins, continued commitment to introducing new and better 
products and services and the continual focus on operational 
efficiencies. This has paved the way for a higher return to 
shareholders through the payment of increased dividends.

Your Directors are projecting another strong year in FY2009 
with double digit NPAT growth of between 10% and 15%, 
providing FY2009 NPAT guidance range of $14.3 million to 
$15.0 million.

Operational Highlights
Wagering products
Whilst wagering turnover grew 9% to $845.1 million in FY2008, 
wagering revenue decreased by 3% from $47.1 million to 
$45.6 million due to a decline in the wagering win rate from 
6.1% to 5.4%. The year-to-date win rate as at 30 April 2008 
was 5.9%. The reduced win rate was due mainly to:

–  unfavourable sports results in May 2008 resulting in 
negative gross margin for NRL and European football, 
as well as a very low margin on the AFL; and

–  unfavourable sports results in June 2008, in particular 
in the NRL and Euro 2008, combined with a negative 
month for on-course racing.

It must be noted that the reduced May and June 2008 win rate 
occurred industry wide.

The current view of long term wagering win rate is now 5.6%. 
Normalising FY2008 NPAT for the current long term wagering 
win rate would have resulted in a $14.0 million NPAT for 
the year.
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Gaming products
Gaming revenue grew 44% in FY2008 to $17.1 million 
attributed mostly to the exceptional Casino revenue growth 
of 76% for FY2008. With the growth of gaming revenues, 
Centrebet is achieving its geographic expansion goals with 
FY2008 non-Australian revenues making up 49% of Total 
Revenues, up from 42% in the previous year. This exceptional 
Casino performance has been driven by:

–  the launch and success of Centrebet’s VIP program for 
Casino clients, including the “Executive Suite”;

–  regular releases and promotion of Centrebet’s new 
“flash” version Fixed Odd Games (FOGs). These are 
played from the sports wallet and were in operation 
for the full 12 months which generated an incremental 
$1.9 million in revenue; and

–  the continued cross sell of Casino games to Centrebet’s 
non-Australian wagering customer base which has 
resulted in Gaming Active Clients growing 34% from 
13,409 to 17,920.

Poker revenue grew at 7% in real terms during FY2008, 
however, Poker revenue in AUD was down 4% to $4.5 million 
due to the adverse US dollar exchange rate movement during 
FY2008. 

Centrebet will continue to offer and promote Poker as a 
product mainly because it assists in retaining our wagering 
and Casino clients.

Earnings projections for 
FY2009 are for double 
digit NPAT growth of 
between 10% to 15%, 
providing NPAT guidance 
range of $14.3 million 
to $15.0 million.”

“
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Centrebet has delivered 
excellent cost control 
and operational 
improvements resulting 
in total operational 
expenses increasing by 
only 2% during FY2008.”

Centrebet International Limited Annual Report 2008

chairman and managing director’s 
report continued

–  marketing costs have increased 20% to $8.9 million which 
has assisted in an increase in total revenue of 16% on a 
“Normalised” win rate basis, and an increase in Active 
Clients of 30% to above 85,000;

–  IT costs are $0.7 million above FY2007 due to a full year of 
operating on the Orbis wagering platform. In the absence 
of a significant business initiative, these costs will not 
materially increase in FY2009; and

–  other expenses are $1.1 million below FY2007 due mostly 
to reduced professional costs, with IPO costs of $0.8 
being incurred in FY2007, and transaction costs reduced 
on a non-completed transaction during FY2008, due to 
the receipt of break fees.

Capital Structure1

 30 Jun 08 30 Jun 07 Change 
 ($m) ($m) ($m)

Cash 45.6 45.7 (0.1)

Other current assets 5.3 4.5 0.8

Total current assets 50.9 50.2 0.l7

Total non-current assets 46.7 46.1 0.5

Total Assets 97.6 96.3 1.2

Client accounts payable 19.3 18.4 0.9
Other current liabilities 6.0 7.2 (1.2)

Total current liabilities 25.3 25.6 (0.3)

Borrowings 16.8 16.7 0.1
Other non-current liabilities 0.2 0.3 (0.0)

Total non-current liabilities 17.0 17.0 0.0

Total Liabilities 42.3 42.6 (0.3)

Total Equity 55.2 53.7 1.5

1 Actual figures are rounded to one decimal place.

Operating expenses3

   FY2008 FY2007 
   Actual Actual Change
   $m $m (%)

Total Revenue 62.7 58.9 6%

Other income1 2.1 2.0 4%

Employee benefits expense 16.0 16.1 –1%
Betting costs (incl. Global GST) 10.0 10.0 0%
Marketing costs 8.9 7.5 20%
Banking costs 4.2 4.2 0%
IT costs 2.2 1.5 45%
Telecommunication costs 1.2 1.3 –7%
Other expenses2 4.7 5.8 –19%

Total Operating Expenses 47.3 46.4 2%

EBITDA 17.4 14.5 20%

EBITDA margin 27.8% 24.6% 

1  For the purpose of this table, Other Income includes foreign exchange 
gains/(losses), as well as interest revenue and credit card fee income.

2  Other expenses includes property costs, professional advisory and audit 
fees, travel and other costs.

3  Actual figures are rounded to one decimal place.

Centrebet has delivered excellent cost control and operational 
improvements resulting in total operational expenses increasing 
by only 2% during FY2008 due mainly to:

–  staff costs have remained flat due to staff headcount 
(excluding casuals) reducing from 231 to 225. This has 
been driven by operational improvements throughout the 
business, whilst still focusing on growing the business;

–  betting costs are 15.9% of total revenue in FY2008 
compared to 16.4% in FY2007. This is a result of reduced 
Australian GST due to lower Australian wagering revenues 
and a saving in overseas odds compilers costs. This has 
been mitigated by the increase in Gaming royalty fees, 
which have increased in-line with revenue growth;

“
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Capital Structure1 (continued)
 30 Jun 08 30 Jun 07 Change 
 ($m) ($m) (%)

Cash from Operations 15.2 13.2 15%

Net interest received 1.3 0.9 46%
Taxes paid (1.2) (0.5) 160%

Net Cash from Operations 15.2 13.6 12%

Cash used in Investing Activities (3.3) (2.7) 19%

Cash used in Financing Activities (12.0) (2.2) 438%

Net Cash (Decrease)/Increase (0.1) 8.6 –101%

 30 Jun 08 30 Jun 07 Change 
 ($m) ($m) ($m)

Cash 45.6 45.7 (0.1)
Client accounts payable (19.3) (18.4) (0.9)

Net Cash 26.2 27.3 (1.0)

Total Borrowings 16.8 16.7 0.1

Surplus Cash 9.5 10.5 (1.1)

1 Actual figures are rounded to one decimal place. Percentage change is 
calculated using actual figures.

Centrebet has maintained a strong financial position due mainly 
to increased cash from operations of 15% over FY2007 to 
$15.2 million.

The FY2008 strong operating cash flows enabled Centrebet to:

–  payout a total of $12 million of dividends including 
$8.1 million relating to FY2007; and

–  fund capital expenditure of $3.3 million.

Strategic Developments
Centrebet has created a solid platform to continue to 
implement its strategic growth initiatives. The foundation for 
this platform has been created by:

–   Centrebet’s successful IPO in July 2006 which created 
a strong financial position for the consolidated entity;

–   the completion of the migration of the Company’s 
wagering platform to the Openbet platform in May 2007;

–   delivery and execution of key initiatives since IPO; and
–  strong double digit growth in trading in both FY2007 

and FY2008.

This solid foundation will enable Centrebet to continue to 
pursue growth and improvement to its core wagering and 
gaming offerings and carry out its existing and new strategic 
initiatives as outlined below:

Increased focus on growth in the Australian market
In FY2007 total Australian racing turnover was $17.6 billion 
and represented 92% of total Australian wagering turnover, 
with thoroughbred turnover being the main contributor 
totalling $12.9 billion. In the five years to FY2007 Corporate 
Bookmakers have grown their market share of total Australian 
thoroughbred turnover from 6% to 19%. During the same 
period TAB has seen its market share decline from 81% to 
73%. The growth in Corporate Bookmakers market share has 
been driven by the penetration of internet betting which has 
grown 22% CAGR over the last five years to FY2007, despite 
advertising restrictions.

In FY2008 Centrebet achieved 14% turnover growth in 
Australia, with online racing turnover growing at 20%. In 
FY2009 Centrebet is expecting continued growth and increase 
in market share, especially with the pending deregulation of 
the Australian market, including the removal of advertising 
restrictions.
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chairman and managing director’s 
report continued

In FY2009 Centrebet will launch a number of marketing 
initiatives to achieve its growth ambitions in the Australian 
market the first of which was its recent announcement as 
major sponsors of A-league soccer premiers, the Newcastle 
Jets, as well as ground sponsorships for the Sydney Swans 
in the AFL and the Cronulla-Sutherland Sharks in the NRL, 
as well as radio advertising.

Expansion into new European markets
Centrebet successfully launched into a new Eastern European 
country in late FY2008. To date this country has provided 
the consolidated entities with the highest number of new 
depositors in FY2009. Centrebet achieved 22% revenue 
growth from Europe in FY2008 and is expecting continued 
growth in FY2009.

Continued growth in Gaming products
With strong revenue growth of 76% for Casino, this will 
continue to be the main focus of gaming growth. Centrebet 
will look to continue to launch new games and continue to 
grow and improve the Casino VIP program.

Mobile Sport and Racing betting
Centrebet’s mobile wagering product in Australia, a download 
application version (JAVA), became operational during late 
2007 followed by its WAP mobile browser betting application 
in August 2008. Marketing initiatives commenced in August 
2008 with the focus on the upcoming Australian Spring Racing 
Carnival. Launches of European language versions will occur 
during FY2009.

VIP, Customer Retention and Reactivation 
Campaigns
The stated aim of these campaigns is to improve retention and 
loyalty with VIP clients and the reactivation of dormant clients. 
Centrebet will continue to focus on these campaigns in 
FY2009. In FY2008 these initiatives produced revenues 
of $6.1 million, a 27% increase over FY2007.

Affiliate Programs
Launched in FY2007 the program involves the Company’s 
procurement of B2B agreements with other online operators 
to promote and introduce customers to Centrebet, including 
advertising on the affiliate’s website. Affiliate agreements are 

50%  TAB
34%  Other Bookmakers
16%  Centrebet

– Total Australian Sports Turnover for 
   FY2007 was $1.6 billion and represents 
   8% of Total Wagering Turnover.
– Centrebet Sports Turnover includes 
   Australian only Sports Turnover. 
   Non-Australian Sports Turnover has 
   been deducted from the “Bookmaker” figure 
   included in the Australian Racing Fact Book.

Sports Turnover and Market Share: 2006/2007 ($m)

77%  TAB
17%  Bookmakers (Phone and Internet)
  5%  Bookmakers (On Course)
  1%  Centrebet

– Total Racing Turnover for FY2007 was 
   $17.6 billion and represents 92% of 
   Total Wagering Turnover.
– Centrebet Turnover includes Australian 
   only Racing Turnover for both “Phone and 
   Internet” and “On Course” through CK Racing.

 

Total Racing Turnover (Thoroughbred, Harness and 
Greyhound) and Market Share: 2006/2007 ($m)
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structured on a commission basis thereby ensuring a variable 
cost means of market penetration and expansion.

This program will receive continued focus in FY2009 following 
its success in FY2008 with 31% of all new clients being 
generated from the program, resulting in $3.0 million of 
revenues.

“White labelling” and strategic alliances
Centrebet launched its first white label in March 2008 – the 
SportOdds wagering website. This launch demonstrated 
Centrebet’s systems and resource capabilities and ability to 
deliver on our strategic objective of working with third party 
businesses.

Although the SportOdds launch resulted in slower than 
expected growth, we will continue to explore methods to 
operate this strategic alliance under the Centrebet brand. 
We will also continue to assess sports book opportunities 
with third parties who have an established gaming brand and 
client base.
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The Company has 
delivered on its core 
initiatives and key 
financial targets, 
including 13% growth 
in total dividends 
to 10.5 cents per share.”

“

Acquisitions
Centrebet are continuing to actively assess acquisition 
opportunities.

Dividends
The Directors have declared a final dividend of 6 cents per 
share, 75% franked, taking total dividends to 10.5 cents per 
share for FY2008, resulting in 13% growth in total dividends 
over FY2007. The final dividend will be paid on 26 September 
2008. The record date for the dividend was 4 September 
2008. The payout ratio on total FY2008 dividends was 71% 
which is in line with our previously advised intentions of 
maintaining a dividend payout ratio of not less than 60% of 
NPAT, depending on capital management initiatives, at the 
relevant time.

Future dividends are expected to be partially franked at below 
50% due to Centrebet’s high level of offshore earnings and 
relatively low average tax rate.

Future Outlook
With the focus and success achieved from the delivery on 
our stated strategic initiatives and with a strong platform for 
growth in market share in both the Australian and European 
markets, your Directors are projecting another year of double 
digit NPAT growth of between 10% and 15% in FY2009. This 
provides NPAT guidance range of between $14.3 million and 
$15.0 million.

 

Graham Kelly Con Kafataris 
Chairman Managing Director
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Board of directors 
and company secretary

Mr Graham Kelly joined the Centrebet 
International Limited Board on 30 May 
2006. He is a member of the Audit, 
Compliance and Risk, Remuneration, 
and Governance and Nomination 
committees.

During the past three years Graham 
has served on the following listed public 
company boards:

–  Tishman Speyer Office Fund 
– October 2004 to present; and

–  Colonial First State Private Capital 
Limited – August 1993 to 2007 
(resigned).

Graham also holds board positions at 
Fresh Food Australia Holdings Pty Ltd 
and Oasis Funds Management Limited, 
as well as several other privately owned 
companies and Australian subsidiaries 
of foreign companies. He is also:

–  Inspector of the Independent 
Commission Against Corruption 
in New South Wales;

–  Governor of the Centenary 
Institute of Cancer Medicine and 
Cell Biology; and

–  Consultant to Freehills lawyers.

Graham has previously served on the 
boards of TAB Limited (including as 
Chairman), the Colonial State Bank, 
the Public Sector Superannuation Fund 
and the Australian Overseas Project 
Corporation, as well as several other 
listed companies. He was previously a 
partner of Freehills lawyers, including 
a term as Managing Partner and 
Chairman.

Mr Con Kafataris has over 30 years’ 
experience as a bookmaker and 
extensive experience in the 
establishment and growth of various 
companies including the development 
of the SportOdds, Centrebet and Civic 
Video entities.

Con was the founder of SportOdds Pty 
Limited in 1995 and commencing in 
2003 has played an integral role in 
the acquisition and integration of the 
business of Centrebet Pty Limited, 
as well as the listing of Centrebet 
International Limited on the Australian 
Securities Exchange in July 2006.

Con has continued his on-course 
bookmaking activities under agreement 
with Centrebet and in terms of turnover 
is the largest on-course bookmaker in 
Australia.

Con has not served as a director on 
any other listed public company boards 
during the past three years.

Mr Michael McRitchie joined the 
Centrebet International Limited Board 
on 30 May 2006. He is a member of the 
Governance and Nomination committee.

Michael has been with Centrebet for 
over four years, having previously 
worked for KPMG for over 10 years. 
Michael commenced his career with 
KPMG in audit, transferring to Corporate 
Finance – Mergers and Acquisitions 
where he spent over seven years, two 
and a half of which were in London on 
secondment.

Following his role in advising and 
assisting the Company on the 
acquisition of the business of Centrebet 
Pty Limited, Michael joined the 
Company as its Chief Financial Officer.

Michael is an Associate of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in Australia, 
a Fellow of the Financial Services 
Institute of Australasia and holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce.

Michael has not served as a director on 
any other listed public company boards 
during the past three years.

Company Directors 

Graham J Kelly
LLB
(age 61)
Independent Chairman

Con Kafataris
Licensed Bookmaker
(age 49)
Executive Managing Director

Michael McRitchie
BCom, ACA, FFin
(age 37)
Executive Finance Director

The following persons held the position 
of Company Director at the end of the 
financial year:
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Mr Max Donnelly joined the Centrebet 
International Limited Board on 30 May 
2006. He is Chairman of the Audit, 
Compliance and Risk and Remuneration 
Committees.

Max has served on the listed public 
company board of Macquarie Radio 
Network Limited from November 2004 
to present. Max has been a partner at 
Ferrier Hodgson since 1986. He has 
been involved in financial corporate 
advisory, restructuring and corporate 
recovery for over 30 years, is a 
Chartered Accountant and holds 
a Bachelor of Commerce from the 
University of New South Wales.

Mr George Kafataris is a member of the 
Remuneration, Audit, Compliance and 
Risk committees and Chairman of the 
Governance and Nomination 
Committee.

George has been involved in the racing 
and gaming industry since 1980 and has 
been a licensed bookmaker since 1992. 
In 2003 George was involved in the 
acquisition and integration of Centrebet 
Pty Limited, and then in 2006 was also 
on the project team for the IPO of 
Centrebet International Limited.

George is currently the Managing 
Director of Civic Video Pty Limited, 
which has over 280 stores in Australia, 
New Zealand and Thailand.

George is also Chairman of VOD 
Pty Ltd, a company that provides the 
in-room entertainment systems to 
over 7,000 hotel rooms and serviced 
apartments throughout Australia, 
New Zealand and Vanuatu.

George has not served as a director on 
any other listed public company boards 
during the past three years.

Mr Malcolm Lucas-Smith has had 
over 40 years’ experience in finance, 
executive and non-executive 
management, property development, 
corporate secretarial and administrative 
services. During that period he spent 
12 years with State Bank of New South 
Wales and 18 years with Australian 
Guarantee Corporation Limited. 
In 1987 he formed a corporate services 
business and has since worked within 
and consulted to the corporate, 
finance, property development, trust 
management and hospitality sectors. 
He provides corporate secretarial 
services to Healthlinx Limited, Medivac 
Limited and several unlisted companies.

Company Secretary

Max Donnelly
BCom, FCA
(age 51)
Independent Director

George Kafataris
Licensed Bookmaker
(age 44)
Non-Executive Director Malcolm Lucas‑Smith 
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corporate governance statement

Centrebet International Limited (“the Company”) and the Board 
are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest 
standards of corporate governance, consistent with the size 
and nature of the Company. This statement outlines the main 
corporate governance practices in place throughout the 
financial year.

The ASX Corporate Governance Council released revised 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations on 
2 August 2007 and this Statement complies with those revised 
principles.

Having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its 
enterprise, it is considered that the Company complies as far 
as possible with the spirit and intentions of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations as appropriate.

Charter for the Board of Directors
An important and basic corporate governance policy is the 
Charter for the Board of Directors adopted in August 2006 
and reviewed this year. The Charter is a composite document 
which deals with all of the ASX principles of good corporate 
governance and is available on the Company’s website.

The Charter, as supported by the Director’s Code of Conduct 
detailed at Principle 3, sets out the following requirements:

–  the role of the Board;
–  the Board structure;
–  the skills required on the Board; and
–  the Director’s general roles.

The relevant references in the Charter are noted under each of 
the principles listed below.

ASX Corporate Governance Principles
The following is a summary of the eight Corporate Governance 
Principles including comments where applicable on the 
Recommendations, and extracts from the policies adopted by 
the Company which demonstrate how compliance has been 
achieved.

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management 
and oversight
Operations of the Board
The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for all 
aspects of the management of the consolidated entity. The 
Board guides and monitors the businesses and affairs of the 
Company on behalf of the Security Holders and is committed 
to achieving and demonstrating the highest suitable standards 
of corporate governance commensurate with the size of the 
Company and the nature of the business. The principal 
functions, responsibilities and performance review 
requirements of the Board and the Managing Director are 
detailed in the Charter for the Board of Directors. The Chairman 
reviews the performance of the Board on an annual basis and 
such review has taken place during the period under review.

Board responsibilities
As the Board acts on behalf of Security Holders and is 
accountable to the Security Holders, the Board seeks to 
satisfy the financial and management expectations of the 
Security Holders, as well as other regulatory and ethical 
expectations and obligations. In addition, the Board is 
responsible for identifying areas of significant business risk 
and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately manage 
those risks.

The Board appoints a Managing Director (“MD”) and the 
responsibility for the operation and administration of the 
Company is delegated to that person and the Executive team.

The Board, has in place, proper procedures to assess the 
performance of the MD and the Executive team and to ensure 
that the Executive team is appropriately qualified and 
experienced to discharge its responsibilities.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that management’s 
objectives, activities and outcomes are aligned to the 
expectations, vision and business risks identified by the Board. 
The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure 
this is achieved including receipt of detailed reports, and 
regular personal presentations to the Board by department 
heads and other Senior Executives which allows the Board to 
discuss relevant matters with those individuals and to ask 
questions on their performance, problems and issues.

Board policies
Board policies or obligations have been established in the 
following areas:

–  continuous disclosure;
–  dealing in securities;
–  related party dealings;
–  conflict of interest and external advice;
–  release of information;
–  significant business risks; and
–  ethical standards.

The role of the Chairman
The role of the Chairman is clearly defined in the Charter for the 
Board of Directors. In summary, the Chairman is responsible 
for leading the Board, ensuring Directors are properly briefed in 
all matters relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating 
Board discussions and managing the Board’s relationship 
with shareholders and with the Company’s senior executives. 
The Chairman formally reviews the performance of the Board 
and the individual Directors on an annual basis and such review 
has taken place this financial year.

The role of the MD
The role of the MD is also clearly defined in the Charter for 
the Board of Directors. In summary, the MD is responsible for 
implementing the Company strategies and policies, achieving 
the Company objectives and managing the business of the 
Company. The MD reviews the performance of his senior 
executives on an annual basis and such review has taken 
place this financial year.
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Board committees
Establishment of Board committees is commensurate with the 
size of the Company and detailed Terms of Reference or 
Charters have been adopted for each committee. Details of 
the experience, expertise and qualifications of the committee 
members are set out on pages 10 and 11 and the number of 
meetings held and attendances is set out on page 22. 
Summaries of the responsibilities and membership of the 
committees is provided at each relevant Principle.

Letters of Appointment and Employment Agreements
The functions, responsibilities, remuneration and terms of each 
Director’s appointment are detailed in individual Letters of 
Appointment as are the same for Senior Executives in individual 
Employment Agreements all prepared in accordance with the 
guidelines included in the Charter for the Board of Directors.

Governance and Nomination Committee
The Board has established a Governance and Nomination 
Committee and adopted suitable terms of reference. The 
role of this committee is to provide advice and assistance to 
the Board on recruitment, appointment, removal, desirable 
competencies and performance appraisal of Directors and 
succession planning for the Board.

At the date of this statement, the members of the Governance 
and Nomination Committee are GP Kafataris (Chairman), 
GJ Kelly and MV McRitchie.

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value
The composition of the Board is determined in accordance 
with the following principles and guidelines:

–  The Board should comprise at least three and no more 
than 12 Directors (determined by the Constitution) and 
at least two of the Directors shall ordinarily reside in 
Australia.

–  The Chairman should preferably be an Independent 
Director.

–  The Board shall comprise Directors with a diverse and 
appropriate range of qualifications and expertise and 
in the event of retirement of a Director with particular 
expertise, the Board, with the assistance of the 
Governance and Nominations Committee, will seek to 
appoint a Director with skills and experience to balance 
the needs of the Board in the operations of the Company.

–  The Board shall meet monthly unless otherwise agreed 
by the Directors and follow meeting guidelines 
established to ensure that all Directors are made aware 
of, and have available all necessary information in a 
timely manner, to participate in an informed discussion 
of all agenda items.

–  The Directors of the Company are elected at a General 
Meeting.

The Directors in office at the date of this statement are:

–  Chairman (Independent) – Graham John Kelly
–  Managing Director – Con Peter Kafataris
–  Finance Director – Michael Victor McRitchie
–  Independent Director – Max Christopher Donnelly
–  Non-executive Director – George Peter Kafataris

Details of the Directors in office at the date of this report and 
during the year together with their experience, expertise and 
qualifications are set out on pages 10 and 11.

Notwithstanding the ASX recommendations that a majority of 
the Board should be Independent Directors, the Board does 
not consider that there is a need to increase the number of 
Directors at this time. The Board maintains strict protocols to 
ensure that any potential or actual conflicts of interest and duty 
are properly identified and managed, and to ensure Directors 
act in accordance with their fiduciary responsibilities.

Independent Directors are independent of management, 
do not have a substantial shareholding (i.e. less than 5%) and 
are free from any business or other relationship which could 
materially interfere with the exercise of their judgement. 
The commentary provided by the ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles and Guidelines has been considered when 
evaluating the independence of the Directors concerned.

Non-executive Directors are independent of management 
but either have or control a substantial shareholding in the 
Company, i.e. 5% or more.

The Director’s Code of Conduct detailed in Principle 3 includes 
an acknowledgement that Directors may obtain independent 
legal advice in order to discharge their duties properly.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible 
decision‑making
The Charter for the Board of Directors deals with this issue 
in respect to Directors, the senior executives, staff and 
consultants of the Company.

The Board adopted a Directors’ Code of Conduct in 2006 
which clarifies the standards of ethical behaviour required of 
the Directors and is relevant to several of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Principles. The Directors’ Code of Conduct has 
been reviewed this year and is available on the Company’s 
website. The following is a summary:
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Directors’ Code of Conduct Overview
The Code of Conduct outlines the principles and standards 
Directors are required to abide by, and governs the way in 
which each of the Directors should conduct themselves in 
the discharge of their duties. This Code of Conduct should 
operate in addition to relevant laws that are in force from time 
to time and also in conjunction with all other Board 
Governance Policies.

1. Directors must act honestly, in good faith and in the best 
interests of the Company as a whole at all times.

2. Directors have a duty to use due care and diligence in 
fulfilling the functions of office and exercising the powers 
attached to that office.

3. Directors must always use the powers of the office for a 
proper purpose.

4. Directors must recognise that their primary responsibility 
is to the Company’s members as a whole but must, 
where appropriate, have regard for the interests of all 
stakeholders of the Company.

5. Directors must not make improper use of information 
acquired as a Director.

6. Directors must not allow personal interests, or the 
interests of any Associated Person, to conflict with the 
interests of the Company.

7. Directors have an obligation to be independent in 
judgement and actions and to take all reasonable steps 
to be satisfied as to the soundness of all decisions taken 
by the Board.

8. Confidential information received by a Director in the 
course of the exercise of Directors’ duties remains the 
property of the Company from which it was obtained 
and it is improper to disclose it, or allow it to be 
disclosed, unless that disclosure has been authorised by 
that company, or required by law.

9. Directors should not engage in conduct likely to bring 
discredit upon the Company.

10.  Directors have an obligation, at all times, to comply with 
the spirit, as well as the letter of the law and with the 
principles of this Code.

The policy includes detailed guidelines for interpretation of the 
principles of the Code of Conduct.

Charter for the Board of Directors
The Charter for the Board of Directors is structured to promote 
ethical and responsible decision-making throughout the 
Company. All Directors, executives, employees and consultants 
of the Company are expected to act with integrity and 
objectivity and maintain appropriate ethical standards and 
have the following duties:

–  to act honestly, fairly and without prejudice in all 
commercial dealings and to conduct business with 
professional courtesy and integrity;

–  to work in a safe, healthy and efficient manner, using 
their skills, time and experience to the maximum of their 
ability;

–  to comply with applicable awards, Company policies 
and job requirements;

–  not to knowingly make any misleading statements to 
any person or to be a party to any improper practice 
in relation to dealings with or by the Company;

–  to ensure that the Company’s resources and property 
are used properly;

–  not to disclose information or documents relating to 
the Company or its business, other than as required by 
law and the ASX Listing Rules and not to misuse any 
information about the Company or any other members 
of the consolidated entity.

Trading in Company Securities
The Board adopted a Directors and Officers Share Trading 
Policy on 31 May 2006 which applies to all Directors, officers, 
senior management and other employees of the Company 
(“Designated Persons”) and supports this Principle through 
its provisions against insider trading and market manipulation. 
The Policy is available on the Company’s website. In summary 
the trading restrictions are:

Inside Information
If a Designated Person has Inside Information (as defined in the 
policy) relating to the Company it is illegal for the Designated 
Person to:

(a)  deal in (that is, apply for, acquire or dispose of) the 
Securities or enter into an agreement to do so; or

(b)  procure another person to apply for, acquire or dispose 
of the Securities or enter into an agreement to do so; or

(c)  directly or indirectly communicate, or cause to be 
communicated, that information to any other person if 
the Designated Person knows, or ought reasonably to 
know, that the person would or would be likely to use 
the information to engage in the activities specified in 
paragraphs (a) or (b) above.

Designated Persons may only deal in the Company’s securities 
if they first obtain approval to do so and the Policy includes a 
procedure to obtain approval.
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Prohibition Time Periods
All Designated Persons are prohibited from dealing in any 
Securities for 21 days prior to the end of each fiscal half-year 
(31 December) and fiscal full year (30 June) and ending no 
earlier than 9.00am (Sydney time) on the third day following the 
official announcement by the Company of its half yearly or 
yearly results.

All Designated Persons who have prior knowledge of Inside 
Information, which is the subject of a public announcement 
by the Company, are prohibited from trading in any Securities 
until the second day following the announcement or 
announcements that disclose to the ASX, or directly to the 
public, all that Inside Information, on which the ASX conducts 
its normal trading operations.

Financial Products
Designated Persons are not permitted to deal at any time in 
financial products without the prior approval of the Board, 
such as options, warrants, futures or other financial products 
issued over the Securities by third parties such as banks and 
other institutions. An exception may apply where the Securities 
form a component of a listed portfolio or index product.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
The Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee is charged 
with safeguarding the integrity of the Company’s financial 
reporting by advising on and supervising internal controls and 
appropriate ethical standards for the financial and operational 
management and risk management of the Company. The 
Committee also confirms the quality and reliability of the 
financial information prepared.

The Company has adopted a detailed Charter for the Audit, 
Compliance and Risk Committee.

The Charter for the Board of Directors sets out the 
membership and responsibilities of the Committee as follows.

The Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee will comprise at 
least two independent directors, one of whom will chair the 
meetings and should not contain any executive directors. 
The Committee responsibilities are:

–  to review the adequacy of systems and standards of 
internal control with emphasis on risk management, 
financial reporting procedures and compliance;

–  to review proposed announcements of financial results, 
financial statements, management questionnaires and 
external audit reports in advance of the Board;

–  to receive any information it requires from management;
–  to report its findings and recommendations directly to 

the Board;

–  to provide a direct link from the Board to the external 
auditor, the nomination of the external auditor and 
reviewing the adequacy of the scope and quality of the 
annual statutory audit and half year audit review;

–  to assess whether non-audit services provided by the 
external auditor are consistent with maintaining the 
external auditor’s independence. Each reporting 
period the external auditor provides an independence 
declaration in relation to the audit or review; and

–  to provide advice to the Board in respect of whether 
the provision of the non-audit services by the external 
auditor is compatible with the general standard of 
independence of auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001.

At the date of this statement, the members of the Committee 
are MC Donnelly (Chairman), GJ Kelly and GP Kafataris. 
Details of the qualifications and experience of the Committee 
members is set out on pages 10 and 11.

The MD and Finance Director (“FD”) must declare in writing 
to the Board (see below) that the financial records of the 
Company for the financial year have been properly maintained, 
and that the Company’s financial reports for the financial year 
comply with accounting standards and present a true and fair 
view of the Company’s financial condition and operational 
results. This statement is required annually.

The Chairman of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee 
meets separately with the auditors as required from time to 
time to discuss the audit reviews and reports, to ensure that 
there are no outstanding issues and to assess the auditor’s 
continuing independence.

The Company Auditor is invited to attend the Annual General 
Meeting and be available to answer any questions the 
Shareholders may care to ask in respect to the financial 
statements of the Company. The Company has not yet 
adopted formal procedures for the selection, appointment 
and rotation of external auditors.

Each year the MD and the FD will provide a statement to 
the Board in writing in respect to the integrity of the financial 
statements and the efficient and effective operation of the risk 
management and internal compliance and control systems.

Each year the MD and the FD will provide a statement to the 
Board (see the Directors’ Report) that the Company’s financial 
reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of 
the Company’s financial condition and operational results and 
are in accordance with the relevant accounting standards. 
The statement also confirms that the assurance is founded on 
a sound system of risk management and internal compliance 
and control which implements the policies adopted by 
the Board.
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Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
The Board has always been very conscious of its continuous 
and periodic disclosure obligations as set out in ASX Listing 
Rules 3 and 4 and has ensured that the requirements of those 
listing rules have been met at all times. The standard Board 
meeting agenda includes a review of past, current and 
forthcoming events and results to determine if there is 
information that should be disclosed in accordance with 
the Company’s Continuous and Periodic Disclosure Policy. 
The Company’s Continuous and Periodic Disclosure Policy is 
reinforced in the Charter for the Board of Directors. The policy 
is as follows:

Policy
That the Company will do all things necessary to ensure 
compliance with Listing Rules 3 and 4 and follow the 
guidelines and best practice recommendations as set out in 
Principle 5 where, in the opinion of the Board, those guidelines 
and recommendations are appropriate to the Company.

Policy Objectives
1. To establish a vetting and authorisation process 

designed to ensure that Company announcements:
 –  are made in a timely manner;
 –  are factual;
 –  do not omit material information; and
 –  are expressed in a clear and objective manner that 

allows investors to assess the impact of the 
information when making investment decisions.

2. To establish a process to promote understanding of 
compliance within the Company.

3.  To safeguard the confidentiality of corporate information 
to avoid premature disclosure.

In respect to Periodic Disclosure, the Listing Rules and 
guidelines require that the Board will ensure that the Security 
Holders and the market are periodically provided with all 
information necessary to assess the performance of the 
Company and the Directors.

Information to allow investors to monitor the performance of 
the Company is communicated by means of:

–  the Annual Report which is available for distribution to all 
Security Holders;

–  the Half-Yearly Report which is available for distribution 
to all Security Holders;

–  periodic reports and special reports when matters of 
material interest arise; the Annual General Meeting and 
other meetings called to obtain approval of any Board 
action as required; and

–  the Company website.

Responsibility
All Directors and the Company Secretary are responsible to 
ensure that the Company’s continuous and periodic disclosure 
policy is adhered to. The MD works with the Chairman and the 
FD in respect to dealing with media contact and any external 
communications, such as analyst briefings.

Principle 6: Respect the rights of Shareholders
The Charter for the Board of Directors and the Director’s 
Code of Conduct detailed at the beginning of this statement 
and the Directors and Officers Share Trading Policy detailed 
at Principle 3, all recognise legal and other obligations and 
support the legitimate interests of all stakeholders.

Fundamental to the rights of shareholders is an effective 
communication system utilising the methods detailed in 
Principle 5 and the Company website. It is very important to 
ensure a clear and balanced understanding of the aims and 
objectives of the Company and the progress being made 
towards them, is readily determinable by interested parties.

The full text of Notices of Meetings and any Explanatory 
Memorandums plus any other relevant announcements made 
to the market, and information provided to analysts, is placed 
on the Company website immediately following release to the 
ASX.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
The Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee Charter requires 
the Committee to:

–  ensure the Company’s risk management policies and 
procedures are adequate;

–  monitor compliance with the Company’s risk 
management policies and procedures;

–  keep itself appraised of the latest developments, policies 
and trends in relation to financial matters, rules and 
regulations to the extent that they may affect the 
Company or the market(s) in which the Company 
operates;

–  oversee the establishment and implementation of a 
risk management system for identifying, assessing, 
monitoring and managing material risk throughout the 
Company and review (at least annually) the effectiveness 
of the Company’s implementation of that system;

–  review the Company’s internal financial control 
mechanisms and risk management policies;

–  compile a risk profile of the material risks (including 
financial and non-financial matters) facing the Company;

–  review major non-financial regulatory matters through 
the use of a compliance monitoring reporting regime 
which covers the following areas of exposure:

 –  environment;
 –  safety and health;
 –  asset protection (including insurance);
 –  trade practices;
 –  discrimination and harassment;
 –  conflict of interest; and
 –   ethical standards.
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Each year the MD and FD will provide a statement to the 
Board in writing in respect to the integrity of the financial 
statements and the efficient and effective operation of the risk 
management and internal compliance and control systems.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee 
charged with the responsibility to review and make 
recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages 
and policies related to the Non-executive Directors, Managing 
Director, Finance Director and Senior Executives of the 
Company, and ensure that the remuneration policies and 
practices are consistent with the Company’s strategic goals 
and human resource objectives.

The Committee, in conjunction with the Chairman of the 
Company, will review the performance of the MD against the 
agreed parameters and KPIs and such review has taken place 
during the period under review.

At the date of this statement, the members of the 
Remuneration Committee are MC Donnelly (Chairman), 
GJ Kelly and GP Kafataris.

The Board has adopted a detailed Charter for the 
Remuneration Committee. The Charter includes the following:

–  Objectives;
–  Composition;
–  Meetings;
–  Access; and
–  Duties and responsibilities including:
 –  advice on Directors’ remuneration;
 –  advice on MD’s remuneration;
 –  advice on senior management remuneration;
 –  employment packaging;
 –  staff policies and procedures;
 –  reporting; and
 –  remuneration reviews.

Directors’ Remuneration
If an Executive Director is appointed, suitable remuneration will 
be approved by the Board. The Non-executive Directors are 
paid Director’s fees by the Company which may be in the form 
of a cash payment to the Director, cash conditional upon the 
purchase of shares in the Company or the issue of Options 
to acquire shares. Proper expenses incurred in the course of 
the Company’s operations are reimbursed. The maximum 
aggregate amount of Non-executive Director’s fees must be 
approved by the Company in a General Meeting.

The Board has established an Employee Share Ownership 
Plan and a Long Term Incentive Plan to encourage and reward 
enhanced performance by senior management and staff 
subject to the performance of the Company. The independent 
and Non-executive Directors do not participate in the scheme.

The Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ Report 
details the remuneration policies of the Company.

The Charter for the Governance and Nomination Committee 
includes the responsibility to assess the necessary and 
desirable competencies of the Board members and to 
evaluate the performance of the Board.

Company Website
This Statement of Corporate Governance is available in the 
Corporate Governance section of the Company website 
www.centrebet.com together with further Corporate 
Governance information as appropriate.

Governance and policy reviews
The Corporate Governance policies and practices of the 
Company will be continually reviewed in accordance with the 
standards required of the Company by the Directors, the ASX, 
ASIC and other relevant stakeholders, to ensure that the 
highest appropriate governance standards are maintained.
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directors’ report

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Centrebet International Limited (“Centrebet” or the 
“Company”) and of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its controlled entities, for the financial year ended 
30 June 2008 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Directors
The details of the Directors of Centrebet in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows:

Graham Kelly
Con Kafataris
Michael McRitchie
Max Donnelly
George Kafataris

Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. Details of any other public company board appointments in 
the last three years are stated on pages 10 and 11 of this report.

Company Secretary
Malcolm Lucas-Smith held the position of Company Secretary during the year and until date of this report.

Principal Activities
During the financial year, the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity were the provision of online wagering 
products to the domestic and international sports and race betting market, as well as online poker and casino products to 
Centrebet’s overseas customers.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the consolidated entity’s principal activities during the financial year.

Dividends
During the financial year two dividends were paid. On 26 September 2007 a fully franked dividend of 9.3 cents per share 
($8,118,592) was paid and on 17 March 2008 a fully franked dividend of 4.5 cents per share ($3,928,351) was paid. 
On 21 August 2008 a partially franked dividend (75.0% franked) of 6.0 cents per share ($5,238,859) has been declared to be 
paid on 26 September 2008. The financial effect of this dividend has not been brought to account in the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports.

Results of Operations
The operating profit after tax for the financial year attributable to members was $13,008,000 (2007: $11,134,000). For more 
information on the results of operations, please refer to the financial details on pages 32 to 70 and the Chairman and Managing 
Director’s Report on pages 4 to 9.

Review of Operations
Centrebet’s wagering products of sport and racing continue to be the Group’s core strategic strength, enabling it to continue to 
hold strong positions in the Group’s key markets of Australia and the Nordic region and will underpin geographic expansion. 
With continued growth in the Group’s online Gaming revenues, in particular online Casino, this is considered an integral 
component of the Group’s strategic plan and will complement the Group’s expansion into new geographic and demographic 
markets. For more detail on the review of operations please see the Chairman and Managing Director’s Report on pages 4 to 9.

Shareholder returns
      2008 2007 2006

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent   $13,008,000 $11,134,000 $2,798,000

Basic EPS    $0.149 $0.129 $0.331

Dividend per share    $0.105 $0.093 –

Dividends paid    $12,046,943 – –

Change in share price since the start of the year   ($0.73) $0.07 n/a

Return on capital employed    23.6% 20.7% 429.1%
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Financial Position
Centrebet improved its already strong financial position at the end of FY2008 compared to FY2007 due primarily to strong 
trading with reported NPAT of $13.0 million (FY2007: $11.1 million) offset by total dividend payments during FY2008 of 
$12.0 million (FY2007: nil). The strong trading has been driven by significant turnover growth of 25%, strong revenue growth of 
6% considering the wagering win rate of 5.4% and the delivery of excellent cost control and operational improvements which 
resulted in operational expenses increasing by only 2% in FY2008. For more detail on the financial position please see the 
financial details on pages 32 to 70.

Business Strategies and Prospects for Future Years
Centrebet’s key organic business strategies for the future will involve:

–  continued growth in both the wagering and gaming products with wagering being the lead product and continuing the 
successful strategy of cross-selling the gaming products to the non-Australian customer base;

–  capitalising on the pending deregulation of the growing Australian wagering market including the removal of advertising 
restrictions;

–  further growth in gaming from the continual launch of new casino games and strong marketing initiatives;
–  European geographic expansion;
–  promoting the growth of mobile sport and race betting through Centrebet’s recently launched mobile betting products;
–  continued exploration of “white labelling” and strategic alliance opportunities; and
–  an ongoing focus on the affiliate program.

In addition to Centrebet’s organic growth strategies, the Company is continuing to actively assess acquisition opportunities. 
For more details on the future strategies please see the Chairman and Managing Director’s Report on pages 4 to 9.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
In March 2008 the High Court of Australia ruled that the Western Australian laws prohibiting Betfair from operating in that state 
were invalid as they imposed “discriminatory and protectionist burdens” on interstate trade and were inconsistent with the 
freedom of interstate trade and commerce required by section 92 of the Constitution (“the Betfair Decision”). In light of the Betfair 
Decision, significant doubts have been cast on the validity of state-based wagering regulatory restrictions and certain operators 
have commenced legal proceedings challenging the constitutionality of NSW advertising restrictions.

In addition, the NSW government has initiated an independent review of wagering in NSW (“the Review”). This is being 
undertaken by Alan Cameron and his report is imminent given the closing of submissions at the end of July 2008. Based on the 
strength of the legal opinion obtained by the Company regarding the invalidity of state-based wagering regulatory restrictions and 
the expected proposed deregulation of the current NSW wagering structure, the Group has commenced advertising in NSW. 
This includes being the major sponsor of the A-league Premiers, the Newcastle Jets, ground sponsorship for the Sydney Swans 
in the AFL and the Cronulla-Sutherland Sharks in the NRL, in addition to radio advertising.

Matters subsequent to the end of the Financial Year
The NSW state government is in the process of implementing legislation requiring all wagering operators fielding on NSW racing 
to seek controlling body approvals and meet Product Fee obligations. This formally commenced on 1 September 2008 and is 
proposed to be levied at 1.5% of turnover on NSW based racing. This is estimated to cost the consolidated entity, an incremental 
$500,000 in FY2009. The Company’s subsidiary, Centrebet Pty Limited, has obtained the necessary approvals and is presently 
in discussions with NSW racing authorities for these fees to be levied at a reduced fairer commercial level.

On 21 August 2008 a partially franked dividend (75.0% franked) of 6.0 cents per share ($5,238,859) has been declared to be 
paid on 26 September 2008.

Other than the above there has not arisen, in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any 
item, a transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity, in future financial years.
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Directors’ Meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of 
the Directors of the Company during the financial year are:

 Meetings of Committees

  Audit, Compliance Governance and 
 Board Meetings and Risk Nomination Remuneration

Director A B A B A B A B

Graham Kelly 14 13 2 2 – – 1 1

Con Kafataris 14 14 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Michael McRitchie 14 14 N/A N/A – – N/A N/A

Max Donnelly 14 14 2 2 N/A N/A 1 1

George Kafataris 14 14 2 2 – – 1 1

A  Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year.
B  Number of meetings attended.

Remuneration Report – audited
1. Principles of compensation
Remuneration is also referred to as compensation throughout this report.

Key management personnel have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company 
and the consolidated entity. As at the date of this report all current Directors are the designated key management personnel – 
refer note 26.

To support the strategic objectives of Centrebet, the Directors have developed a total remuneration strategy which seeks to 
remunerate employees in a fair and consistent way, and align their interests with those of shareholders. The remuneration 
strategy has been developed with the following aims:

1. attract and retain high quality employees;
2. align the interests of employees with the interests of the shareholders;
3. reward high performance by the key executive team;
4. motivate the executive team to outperform; and
5. encourage a long-term company growth focus amongst the key executive team.

2. Fixed compensation
Executive remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee, having regard 
to performance against goals set at the start of the year, relevant comparative information and independent expert advice as 
necessary. The Remuneration Committee meets annually to approve salaries.

3. Performance‑linked compensation
As well as a base salary, remuneration packages include superannuation, retirement and termination entitlements, 
performance-related bonuses and fringe benefits. Since 11 July 2006, key management personnel have been able to participate 
in the Company Employee Share Ownership Plans (comprising the Long-term Incentive Plan) and certain members of key 
management personnel are also able to participate in the Short-term Incentive Plan (comprising an annual cash bonus).

(a) Short‑term Incentive Plan (STI)
Senior executives and other employees as determined by the Board may participate in the annual STI cash bonus plan. 
Participants will have the opportunity to receive up to a certain specified percentage of their annual fixed remuneration in the 
form of a cash bonus, payable after the finalisation of the annual financial results of the consolidated entity as determined by the 
Board. The payment of the STI will depend on the financial performance of the Company as well as the level of performance of 
the relevant senior executive or other employee against prescribed performance hurdles.

The available percentage and performance hurdles will be set by the Board at the beginning of the performance period, and will 
be specific to each individual’s role, responsibilities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs will include certain financial 
and non-financial measures as appropriate to each individual, and at the discretion of the Board.

The final payment of the STI bonus will be determined on a pro rata basis depending on the participant’s level of performance 
against prescribed performance hurdles.
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(b) Long‑term Incentive Plan (LTI)
Subject to receiving an offer of participation being made by the Board, certain senior executives and nominated employees can 
participate in the LTI on an annual basis. The basis of the LTI is the provision of equity instruments to the applicable senior 
executives and nominated employees. Ownership of those equity instruments vests in those senior executives and nominated 
employees three years after the date of their allotment, subject to the satisfaction of certain performance hurdles.

Senior executives and nominated employees have received Performance Rights, Options or a combination of both. The fair value 
of the Performance Rights and Options granted to the senior executives and nominated employees have not exceeded 15% of 
their targeted total reward mix for FY2008. The number of Performance Rights and Options granted to the senior executives and 
nominated employees was determined by the Board at the start of the performance period and was determined with reference 
to the role and responsibilities of each senior executive or nominated employee.

A Performance Right entitles the holder to receive one share for no cash consideration once the right has vested in the holder 
and the relevant performance hurdles have been met.

The Option entitles the holder to purchase one share by paying the prescribed exercise price to the Company once the Option 
has vested in the holder and the relevant performance hurdles have been met. The exercise price will be equal to the market 
value of the underlying shares on the date of grant as calculated under Division 13A of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.

A further group of nominated employees have received Performance Rights, Options or a combination of both as the LTI 
component of their total reward mix. The Board has determined that the fair value of the Options or Performance Rights granted to 
those nominated employees has not exceeded 12.5% of their targeted total reward mix for FY2008. The number of Performance 
Rights granted to those nominated employees was determined by the Board at the start of the performance period and was 
determined with reference to the role and responsibilities of each of those nominated employees.

The performance hurdles for both the Performance Rights and the Options will be the same. The Performance Rights and 
Options granted are subject to a “total shareholder return” (TSR) hurdle.

The TSR hurdle measures the TSR of Centrebet against a nominated comparator group of companies listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). The comparator group selected by the board for this TSR measurement is the constituent 
companies included in the ASX Consumer Discretionary Spending Index.

The Consumer Discretionary Spending Index encompasses those industries that tend to be the most sensitive to economic 
cycles. The services segment includes hotels, restaurants and other leisure facilities, media production and services and 
consumer retailing. The sector takes all the ASX Media, Tourism and Leisure companies, and some of the ASX Retail 
Companies. Access to this Index can be obtained at the following website: www2.standardandpoors.com.

The material terms of the LTI are as follows:

–  at the beginning of each performance period, the Board will determine the participants in the LTI, the quantum of the grants 
and the type of grant for each senior executive or nominated employee (whether Performance Rights, Options or both);

–  the Performance Rights and/or Options vest in the holder after three years, subject to meeting the performance hurdles;
–  the Performance Rights and Options are subject to the TSR hurdle;
–  the TSR hurdle measures the TSR of the consolidated entity against a nominated comparator group of companies from the 

ASX, as determined by the Board. Please refer to note 18 for details on the Comparator Group;
–  the final number of Performance Rights and/or Options which vest in the senior executives and nominated employees is 

determined on a pro rata basis, depending on the Company’s actual performance against the hurdle; and
–  the senior executives and nominated employees have two years within which to exercise and acquire the Shares after the 

Performance Rights and/or Options have vested.

4. Consequences of performance on shareholders’ wealth
In considering the consolidated entity’s performance and benefits for shareholders’ wealth, the remuneration committee have 
regard to the following information in respect of the current financial year and the preceding financial year.

      2008 2007 2006

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent   $13,008,000 $11,134,000 $2,798,000

Basic EPS    $0.149 $0.129 $0.331

Dividend per share    $0.105 $0.093 –

Dividends paid    $12,046,943 – –

Change in share price since the start of the year   ($0.73) $0.07 n/a

Return on capital employed    23.6% 20.7% 429.1%



Centrebet International Limited Annual Report 2008 24

directors’ report continued

Remuneration Report – audited (continued) 
Net profit is considered as one of the financial performance targets in setting the STI. The net profit amount for 2007 and 2008 
has been determined in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs). Dividends, changes in share price, and 
return on capital are included in the TSR calculation which is one of the performance criteria assessed for the LTI. The other 
performance criteria assessed for the LTI is growth in earnings per share, which again takes into account the consolidated 
entity’s net profit.

The overall level of key management personnel’s compensation takes into account the performance of the consolidated entity 
over a number of years.

5. Service contracts
It is the consolidated entity’s policy that employment contracts for all personnel, excluding the Managing Director and the 
Finance Director, are unlimited in term but capable of termination with between one and three month’s notice and that the 
consolidated entity retains the right to terminate the contract immediately, by making payment equal to between one and three 
months pay in lieu of notice. The employment contract outlines the components of remuneration paid to the individual employee. 
Remuneration levels are reviewed each year to take into account market conditions, cost-of-living changes, any change in the 
scope of the role performed by the employee and any changes required to meet the principles of the remuneration policy.

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director, Finance Director and other Group Executives are 
formalised in employment agreements, with effect from 1 July 2006. The key terms of these agreements are detailed below:

i. Con Kafataris
–  Term – indefinite subject to six months’ notice by either party except that the Company may terminate the contract with 

shorter notice periods in accordance with specific terms of the employment agreement;
–  Salary Package – $400,000 per annum (including superannuation);
–  Up to 50% of salary package being STIs subject to net profit after tax for the consolidated entity meeting budget for 

FY2008, of which no amount will be paid;
–  Restraint Period – 12 months from termination date; and
–  Title – Managing Director.

ii. Michael McRitchie
–  Term – indefinite subject to six months’ notice by either party except that the Company may terminate the contract with 

shorter notice periods in accordance with specific terms of the employment agreement;
–  Salary Package – $290,000 per annum (including superannuation);
–  Up to 35% of salary package being STIs subject to net profit after tax for the consolidated entity meeting budget for 

FY2008, of which no amount will be paid (FY2007 $42,000);
–  $137,000 worth of LTIs at fair market value subject to satisfaction of the performance hurdles set out in the LTI noted 

above;
–  Restraint Period – 12 months from termination date; and
–  Title – Finance Director.

iii. Other Group Executives
–  Notice – between one and three months notice by either party;
–  Termination Payments – entitlement to accrued annual leave.

6. Non‑Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors are paid directors’ fees by the Company which may be in the form of a cash payment to the 
Non-Executive Director, cash conditional upon the purchase of shares in the Company or the issue of Options to acquire shares. 
Ordinary expenses incurred in the course of the Company’s operation are reimbursed. The maximum aggregate amount of 
Non-Executive Director’s fees must be approved by the Company in a General Meeting.

The fixed sum limit for payment of Non-Executive Director’s fees is $500,000 per annum until and unless the Shareholders, 
by an ordinary resolution, approve some other fixed sum. The amount is set based on advice from external advisors with 
reference to fees paid to other Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies.

Appointment terms are for three years at which time Directors must retire by rotation. Directors can be reappointed by being 
re-elected at future annual general meetings. Appointments can be terminated prior to the nominated term by a resolution 
passed in a general meeting.
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7. Directors’ and Executive Officers’ remuneration (Company and Consolidated)
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director, being the key management personnel 
of the Company and each of the five named relevant Group Executives(A) who receive the highest remuneration are:

    Post-  Other    Share-   S300A
    employ-  long-    based  S300A (1)(e)(vi)
  Short-term  ment  term    payment  (1)(e)(i) Value of
            Proportion Options
            of remun- and 
    Deferred        eration rights as 
    STI Non-  Super-  Term- Options  perform- proportion 
   Salary cash monetary  annuation  ination and  ance- of remun- 
   and fees bonus benefits Total benefits  benefits rights Total related eration
Consolidated  ($) ($)(B) ($)(C) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)(D) ($) (%) (%)

Directors
Non‑executive
Graham Kelly 2008 110,092 – – 110,092 9,908 – – – 120,000 – – 
(Chairperson) 2007 110,092 – – 110,092 9,908 – – – 120,000 – –

Max Donnelly 2008 50,000 – – 50,000 – – – – 50,000 – – 
  2007 50,000 – – 50,000 – – – – 50,000 – –

George Kafataris 2008 50,000 – – 50,000 4,500 – – – 54,500 – – 
  2007 50,000 – – 50,000 4,500 – – – 54,500 – –

Executive
Con Kafataris 2008 366,972 – – 366,972 33,028 654 – – 400,654 – – 
(Managing Director) 2007 321,101 – – 321,101 28,899 374 – – 350,374 – –

Michael McRitchie 2008 266,055 – – 266,055 23,945 2,763 – 38,201 330,964 11.5% 11.5% 
(Finance Director) 2007 229,358 42,000 – 271,358 20,642 1,187 – 16,451 309,638 18.9% 5.3%

Executives
Luke Brill 2008 189,292 – – 189,292 8,348 145 – 12,813 210,598 6.1% 6.1% 
(Marketing & Gaming Manager) 2007 49,583 – – 49,583 4,462 – – – 54,045 – – 
(commenced 15 March 2007)

Stefan Matthews 2008 197,875 – – 197,875 17,233 5,872 – 19,349 240,329 8.1% 8.1% 
(Technology & Business 2007 187,156 6,000 – 193,156 16,844 2,169 – 12,658 224,827 8.3% 5.6% 
Development Manager)

Shaun Henry 2008 191,561 – – 191,561 14,783 948 – 16,055 223,347 7.2% 7.2% 
(Operations Manager) 2007 151,414 16,500 – 167,914 13,627 187 – 9,283 191,011 13.5% 4.9%

Total remuneration key management 2008 1,421,847 – – 1,421,847 111,745 10,382 – 86,418 1,630,392 5.3% 5.3% 
personnel and group executives:  2007 1,189,726 64,500 – 1,254,226 102,574 3,917 89,298 38,392 1,488,407 6.9% 2.6% 
(consolidated)(F)

Total remuneration key management  2008 – – – – – – – – – – – 
personnel and company executives  2007 – – – – – – – – – – – 
(Company)(A) 

Notes in relation to the table of Non-Executive Directors’ and Executive Directors’ remuneration.
(A)  The five most highly paid Group executives which include Con Kafataris, Michael McRitchie, Luke Brill, Stefan Matthews and Shaun Henry were paid by a 

controlled entity. No executives were paid by the Company.
(B) The Short-term Incentive (STI) bonus is for performance using the criteria set out on page 22. The STI share bonus scheme commenced on 11 July 2006. 

All STI payments are deferred until the finalisation of the annual results of the consolidated entity. The actual payment of the bonus occurs after 30 June.
(C) Amounts disclosed for remuneration of Directors and executive officers exclude insurance premiums of $42,468 paid by the consolidated entity in respect 

of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance contracts which cover current and former Directors and officers, including executive officers of the entity and 
Directors, executive officers and secretaries of its controlled entities. This amount has not been allocated to the individuals covered by the policy as, based 
on all available information, the Directors believe that no reasonable basis for such allocation exists.

(D) As at 30 June 2008 options or performance rights relate to those granted on 11 July 2006 and 3 September 2007.
(E) The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options and performance rights on grant date:
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  Fair value 
 Option/ per option/  Price of Expected Risk free Dividend 
 performance performance Exercise shares on volatility interest rate yield 
Grant Date right life right price grant date (%) (%) (%)

Options

11 July 2006 5 years $0.370 $2.00 $2.00 47% 5.81% 4.65%

3 September 2007 5 years $0.390 $1.881 $1.90 35% 6.14% 5.00%

Performance Rights

11 July 2006 5 years $0.973 – $2.00 47% 5.81% 4.65%

3 September 2007 5 years $0.840 – $1.90 35% 6.14% 5.00%

(F) Group totals in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2007 do not necessarily equal the sum of amounts disclosed for individuals specified in 2008 as 
there has been a change in the individuals specified in 2007.

8. Details of performance‑related remuneration
Details of the consolidated entity’s policy in relation to the proportion of remuneration that is performance-related is discussed on 
pages 22 and 23.

Details of the vesting profile of the short-term incentive cash bonuses awarded as remuneration to each Director of the Company, 
each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group executives are detailed below.

    Short-term 
   Included in incentive bonus % forfeited
   remuneration $(A) % vested in year in year(B)

Directors

Graham Kelly – – –

Max Donnelly – – –

Con Kafataris – – –

George Kafataris – – –

Michael McRitchie – – 100%

Executives

Luke Brill – – 100%

Stefan Matthews – – 100%

Shaun Henry – – 100%

(A) Amounts included in remuneration for the financial year represent the amount that vested in the financial year based on achievement of personal goals and 
satisfaction of specified performance criteria. No amounts vest in future financial years in respect of the bonus schemes for the 2008 financial year.

(B) The amounts forfeited are due to the performance or service criteria not being met in relation to the current financial year.

9. Equity instruments
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of Centrebet International Limited, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis 
under the LTI plan.

All performance rights refer to rights over ordinary shares of Centrebet International Limited, which are exercisable on a 
one-for-one basis under the LTI plan.

directors’ report continued
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10. Options and Performance Rights over equity instruments granted as compensation
Details on Options and Performance Rights over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each 
key management person during the reporting period, details on Options and Performance Rights that were vested during the 
reporting period, details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to each Director of the Company and other 
key management personnel are as follows:

   Number  Fair value   Number 
    of options/  per option/   of options/ 
   perform-  perform- Exercise  perform-   Financial 
   ance rights  ance price  ance rights  % years Value yet Value yet 
   granted  rights at per  vested % forfeited in which to vest to vest  
   during Grant grant date option Expiry during vested in grant $ – $ –
   2008 date ($) ($) date the year in year year(A) vests Min(B) Max(C)

Options
Directors
Michael McRitchie 156,154 3 September 0.390 1.881 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 60,900 
    2007   2012    2010

Executives
Luke Brill 89,744 3 September 0.390 1.881 30 June – – – 30 June – 35,000 
    2007   2012    2010

Stefan Matthews 46,868 3 September 0.390 1.881 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 18,279 
    2007   2012    2010

Shaun Henry 47,436 3 September 0.390 1.881 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 18,500 
    2007   2012    2010

Rights
Directors
Michael McRitchie 31,071 3 September 0.840 – 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 26,100 
    2007   2012    2010

Executives
Luke Brill 41,667 3 September 0.840 – 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 35,000 
    2007   2012    2010

Stefan Matthews 21,760 3 September 0.840 – 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 18,278 
    2007   2012    2010

Shaun Henry 22,024 3 September 0.840 – 30 June – – – 30 June Nil 18,500 
    2007   2012    2010

(A)  The % forfeited in the year represents the reduction from the maximum number of options available to vest due to the 
highest level performance criteria not being achieved.

(B)  The minimum value of options yet to vest is $nil as the performance or service criteria may not be met and consequently the 
option may not vest.

(C)  The maximum value of options yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of the Company 
on the Australian Securities Exchange at the date the option is exercised. These share prices represent a maximum price 
included in the volatility assumptions within the valuation of the options.

All options and performance rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s employment.

The options must be exercised within two years following the vesting date. The vesting date being three years from grant date 
unless an earlier trigger event occurs. In addition to a continuing employment service condition, the ability to exercise options is 
conditional on the consolidated entity achieving certain performance hurdles. Details of the performance criteria are included in 
the long-term incentives discussion on page 23.
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11.  Shares issued on exercise of Options
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company did not issue ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of Options.

12.  Share Options and Performance Rights
The movement during the reporting period, by value, of options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each Company 
Director and each of the five named Company executives and relevant Group executives and other key management personnel 
is detailed below.

 Value of Options

     Granted Exercised Forfeited Total option 
     in year in year in year value in year 
     $(A) $(B) $(C) $

Graham Kelly   – – – –

Con Kafataris   – – – –

Michael McRitchie   60,900 – – 60,900

Max Donnelly   – – – –

George Kafataris   – – – –

Luke Brill   35,000 – – 35,000

Stefan Matthews   18,279 – – 18,279

Shaun Henry   18,500 – – 18,500

     132,679 – – 132,679

 Value of Rights

     Granted Exercised Forfeited Total option 
     in year in year in year value in year 
     $(A) $(B) $(C) $

Graham Kelly   – – – –

Con Kafataris   – – – –

Michael McRitchie   26,100 – – 26,100

Max Donnelly   – – – –

George Kafataris   – – – –

Luke Brill   35,000 – – 35,000

Stefan Matthews   18,278 – – 18,278

Shaun Henry   18,500 – – 18,500

     97,878 – – 97,878

(A)  The value of options granted in the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using a Monte Carlo 
option-pricing model. The total value of the options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting periods (i.e. in years 11 July 2006 to 10 July 2009 and 3 September 2007 to 30 June 2010).

(B)  The value of options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the Company on the Australian 
Securities Exchange as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise 
the option.

(C)  The value of the options that lapsed during the year represents the benefit forgone and is calculated at the date the option 
lapsed using a Monte Carlo option-pricing model with no adjustments for whether the performance criteria have or have not 
been achieved.

End of Remuneration Report.

directors’ report continued
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Directors’ interests
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, debentures, interests in registered schemes and rights or options over such 
instruments issued by the companies within the consolidated entity and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the 
Directors to the ASX in accordance with Section 205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows:

       Rights over Options over 
      Ordinary ordinary ordinary 
      shares shares shares

Graham Kelly    10,000 – –

Con Kafataris    16,166,270 – –

Michael McRitchie    210,000 57,927 218,921

Max Donnelly    75,000 – –

George Kafataris    16,166,270 – –

The ordinary shareholding for Con and George Kafataris includes their beneficial ownership through Racejest Pty Ltd.

Unissued shares under option and performance rights
At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option and performance rights are:

         
       Options Number 
Expiry date     Exercise price of shares

11 July 2009     $2.00 160,306

30 June 2010     $1.881 402,752

        563,058

       Rights Number 
Expiry date     Exercise price of shares

11 July 2009     – 370,235

30 June 2010     – 617,643

        987,878

All options and performance rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment.

In addition, the ability to exercise the options is conditional on the Group achieving certain performance hurdles. 
The performance hurdles comprise two components, relative total shareholder return and growth in earnings per share. 
Further details are included in the Remuneration Report on pages 22 to 28.

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body corporate.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
The consolidated entity will continue to pursue its policy of increasing the profitability and market share of its Wagering and 
Gaming business during the next financial year.

Further information about likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of the 
consolidated entity in future financial years has been included in the Chairman and Managing Director’s Report on pages 4 to 9.
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Indemnification
The Company must, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify each officer of the Company and each officer of a related entity of 
the Company, against any liability incurred by that person in that capacity, including but not limited to liability for negligence or 
costs incurred in defending proceedings in which judgement is given in favour of the person or in which the person is acquitted.

Insurance of officers
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium to insure the officers of the Company and related entities against certain 
liabilities that might be incurred in that capacity.

The insurance premium of $42,468 relates to:

–  costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and whatever their 
outcome; and

–  other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or improper 
use of information or position to gain a personal advantage.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of 
the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Environmental regulations
There are no particular or significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory 
affecting the consolidated entity.

The consolidated entity’s operations do not pose a high risk for breach of environmental legislation and in the Directors’ opinion 
there is no known breach of regulatory requirements that may:

–  potentially result in financial penalties;
–  result in the governing authority having the ability to suspend an operation;
–  have a major impact on surrounding ecosystems; and
–  have a financial impact on the operations and results of the consolidated entity in the 2008 financial year.

Non‑audit services
During the year KPMG, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice 
provided by resolution of the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those non-audit services 
during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

–  all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company and have been 
reviewed by the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the 
auditor; and

–  the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in 
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own 
work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company 
or jointly sharing risks and rewards.
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Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, KPMG, and its related practices for non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below.

  Consolidated

       2008 2007 
       $ $

Other services

Other advisory services     – 1,055,910

Taxation services     446,682 157,082

       446,682 1,212,992

Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 
Order, amounts in the Financial Report and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 74 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for financial year 
ended 30 June 2008.

This report is made with a resolution of the Directors:

Graham Kelly 
Director

Dated at this 22nd day of September 2008 in Sydney
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Revenue  2 62,698 58,929 – –

Other income  2 2,322 1,647 12,349 6

Employee benefits expense  3 (15,957) (16,064) – –

Advertising and promotion   (8,924) (7,450) – –

Betting costs   (7,243) (6,812) – –

Bank and merchant facility fees  (4,233) (4,224) – –

Global GST   (2,753) (3,176) – –

Depreciation and amortisation  (2,178) (1,808) – –

Telecommunications   (1,229) (1,326) – –

Property costs   (997) (970) – –

Professional fees   (988) (1,259) – –

Consultancy fees   (685) (866) – –

IPO/listing costs   – (779) – –

Other expenses   (4,301) (3,500) (240) (95)

Results from operating activities  15,532 12,342 12,109 (89)

Financing (costs)/income  5 (590) 184 – (5)

Profit/(loss) before income tax  14,942 12,526 12,109 (94)

Income tax (expense)/benefit  6 (1,934) (1,392) 18 61

Profit/(loss) after income tax   13,008 11,134 12,127 (33)

Profit/(loss) for the period attributed to equity holders  
of the parent entity  19 13,008 11,134 12,127 (33)

Basic earnings per share (cents) 7 14.9 12.9

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 7 14.7 12.8

The income statements are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 70.
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statements of recognised  
income and eXpense
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Foreign exchange translation differences  115 79 – –

Net gain recognised directly in equity 19 115 79 – –

Profit/(loss) for the year   13,008 11,134 12,127 (33)

Total recognised income and expense for the year 19 13,123 11,213 12,127 (33)

The statements of recognised income and expense are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out 
on pages 36 to 70.
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 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  8 45,571 45,680 8 350

Trade and other receivables  9 2,952 2,250 63,050 62,192

Income tax receivable  11 – – 64 –

Other current assets  10 2,377 2,246 – –

Total Current Assets   50,900 50,176 63,122 62,542

Non‑Current Assets

Plant and equipment  14 2,416 3,203 – –

Investments  12 – – 525 388

Intangible assets  15 44,197 42,334 – –

Deferred tax assets  13 37 598 – –

Total Non‑Current Assets   46,650 46,135 525 388

Total Assets   97,550 96,311 63,647 62,930

Liabilities

Trade and other payables  16 24,172 24,182 269 9

Income tax payable  11 146 333 – 123

Employee benefits  18 1,022 1,120 – –

Total Current Liabilities   25,340 25,635 269 132

Non‑Current Liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 16,773 16,715 16,773 16,715

Employee benefits  18 232 274 – –

Total Non‑Current Liabilities  17,005 16,989 16,773 16,715

Total Liabilities   42,345 42,624 17,042 16,847

Net Assets   55,205 53,687 46,605 46,083

Equity

Contributed equity  19 52,744 52,744 52,744 52,744

Reserves  19 (2,904) (3,461) (2,930) (3,372)

Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses) 19 5,365 4,404 (3,209) (3,289)

Total Equity   55,205 53,687 46,605 46,083

The balance sheets are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 70.
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statements of cash floWs
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers  1,300,741 1,040,957 12,322 –

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (1,285,573) (1,027,752) (156) –

Cash generated from operations  15,168 13,205 12,166 –

Interest received   1,585 1,015 27 6

Interest paid   (325) (152) – (5)

Income taxes paid   (1,236) (475) (1,013) (459)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 25 15,192 13,593 11,180 (458)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of plant and equipment  (424) (1,308) – –

Acquisition of intangible assets  (2,830) (1,433) – –

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (3,254) (2,741) – –

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from Initial Public Offering (IPO)  – 45,153 – 45,153

Payment of IPO costs   – (4,461) – (3,002)

Payment of loan establishment costs  – (395) – –

Repayment of borrowings   – (42,536) – (35,036)

Loans to controlled entities   – – – (6,407)

Dividends paid   (12,047) – (12,047) –

Loans from controlled entities   – – 525 –

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities  (12,047) (2,239) (11,522) 708

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (109) 8,613 (342) 250

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  45,680 37,067 350 100

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 8 45,571 45,680 8 350

The statements of cash flows are to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 36 to 70.
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notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

1.  Significant accounting policies
Centrebet International Limited (the “Company”) is a company 
domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial report of the 
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 comprise 
the Company, its subsidiaries and CK Racing (together referred 
to as the “consolidated entity”). The address of the Company’s 
registered office is 110-116 Bourke Road, Alexandria, New 
South Wales 2015, Australia. The Company is primarily involved 
in online wagering and gaming operations.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 22 September 2008.

(a)  Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which  
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.

The consolidated financial report of the Group also complies 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and 
interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

(b)  Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for derivative financial instruments that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(c)  Basis of preparation
The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently by all entities in the consolidated entity to all 
periods presented in the consolidated financial report.

The entity has also adopted the following accounting standards 
and interpretations, which were required to be applied for 
financial years ended 30 June 2008:

– AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
(August 2005)

– AASB 2005-10 Amendments Australian Accounting 
Standards (September 2005) – Financial Instruments

– AASB 2007-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (June 2007)

– Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and 
Impairment (September 2006)

– Interpretation 11 AASB 2 Group and Treasury Share 
Transactions (February 2007)

– AASB 2007-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 
11 (February 2007).

Adoption of the above standards did not have any impact 
on current or prior periods. Additional current and prior year 
disclosures relating to AASB 7 have been made in Note 20.

(d)  Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, 
which is the Company’s functional currency.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 

Order, all financial information presented in Australian dollars 
has been rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise 
stated.

(e)  Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
in any future periods affected.

(f)  Basis of consolidation
(i)  Subsidiaries and Special Purpose Entities
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control 
exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, 
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or 
convertible are taken into account. The financial results 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of 
acquisition in the Company’s financial statements.

(ii)  Special Purpose Entity
The financial statements of CK Racing, a sole proprietorship, 
are included in the consolidated financial statements given 
it is a Special Purpose Entity (SPE) and is a member of the 
consolidated Group as the Group is entitled to profits under 
a service agreement. Any charges, loans or investments with 
the SPE from any other member of the consolidated entity are 
eliminated on consolidation.

(iii)  Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions or 
with CK Racing, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

(g)  Foreign currency
(i)  Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
balance sheet date are translated to Australian dollars at the 
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognised in the income 
statements. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated 
to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
dates the fair value was determined.
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(ii)  Financial statements of foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, 
are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses 
of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at 
rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at 
the dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net 
investment in foreign operations are taken to a translation 
reserve. They are released into the income statements upon 
disposal of the foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary 
item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the 
foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net 
investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly 
in equity in the translation reserve.

(h)  Plant and equipment
(i)  Owned assets
Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed 
cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 
impairment losses (see Note 1(l)). The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial 
estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production 
overheads.

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of plant 
and equipment.

(ii)  Leased assets
Operating lease payments are charged to the income 
statement in the periods in which they are incurred, as this 
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the lease 
assets. Any incentives received on entering into operating 
leases are recognised as liabilities.

(iii)  Subsequent costs
The consolidated entity recognises in the carrying amount of 
an item of plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of 
such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that 
the future economic benefits embodied within the item will 
flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income 
statements as an expense as incurred.

(iv)  Leasehold improvements
Expenditure to improve premises occupied pursuant to an 
operating lease is capitalised. In addition to the direct costs of 
improving the premises and the associated labour costs, the 
cost of leasehold improvements includes (a) the initial estimate 
at the time of installation and during the period of use, when 
relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items 
and restoring the site on which they are located, and 
(b) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities 

recognised for these costs resulting from changes in the 
timing or outflow of resources required to settle the obligation 
or from changes in the discount rate.

(v) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statements on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 
of an item of plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative 
periods are as follows:

–  Plant and equipment 2.5 to 10 years
–  Leasehold improvements 2.5 to 40 years
–  Motor vehicles 13 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method 
applied to an asset are reassessed at least annually.

(i)  Intangible assets
(i)  Goodwill and business combinations
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the 
purchase method. Goodwill represents the difference between 
the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units and is not 
amortised but is tested annually for impairment (see Note 1(l)).

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised 
directly in profit or loss.

(ii)  Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the consolidated 
entity, including software and trademarks are stated at cost 
less accumulated amortisation (see below) and impairment 
losses (see Note 1(l)).

(iii)  Research and development costs
Development activities revolve around the enhancement of the 
consolidated entity’s wagering computer software platform 
– Openbet. Development expenditure is capitalised only if 
development costs can be measured reliably, the computer 
software development enhancements are technically and 
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, 
and the consolidated entity intends to and has sufficient 
resources to complete development and to use the asset. 
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of direct labour 
and overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing 
the asset for its intended use.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

(iv)  Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statements on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible 
assets unless such lives are indefinite. Goodwill and intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life are systematically tested 
for impairment at each annual balance sheet date. Other 
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1.  Significant accounting policies (continued)
intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available 
for use. The estimated useful lives in the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

–  Trademarks 10 to 20 years
–  Capitalised computer software costs 2.5 to 5 years

(j)   Trade and other receivables, including client 
accounts receivable

Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost 
less impairment losses (see Note 1(l)).

(k)  Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and 
call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the consolidated entity’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the statements of cash flows.

(l)  Impairment
The carrying amounts of the consolidated entity’s assets 
other than deferred tax assets (see Note 1(t)), are reviewed at 
each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated (see below).

For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that are 
largely independent from other assets and groups. Impairment 
losses are recognised in the income statements, unless 
an asset has previously been revalued, in which case the 
impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of 
that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through 
the income statements.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) and 
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the 
unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

(i)  Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the consolidated entity’s 
receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated as the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 
computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective 
evidence is available that a loss event has occurred. Significant 
receivables are individually assessed for impairment.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

(ii)  Reversals of impairment
Impairment losses, other than in respect of goodwill, are 
reversed when there is an indication that the impairment 
loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in 
the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at 
amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(iii)  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial 
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:

–  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;

–  the consolidated entity retains the right to receive cash 
flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third party; or

–  the consolidated entity has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit and loss.

(m)  Contributed equity
(i)  Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(ii)  Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on 
or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at 
balance date.

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued



39

(iii)  Transaction costs
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. Transaction costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new shares or options, for the acquisition of a 
business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part 
of the purchase consideration. These costs are shown net 
of tax deductions claimed and yet to be claimed as a 
future deduction.

(n)  Interest‑bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair 
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated 
at amortised cost with any difference between cost and 
redemption value being recognised in the income statements 
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(o)  Employee benefits
(i)  Defined contribution superannuation funds
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the 
income statements as incurred.

(ii)  Long service leave benefits
The consolidated entity’s net obligation in respect of long 
service leave benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount 
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is 
calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary 
rates including related on-costs and expected settlement 
dates, and is discounted using the rates attached to the 
Commonwealth Government bonds at the balance sheet date 
which have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the 
consolidated entity’s obligations.

(iii)  Short‑term benefits
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual 
leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date, represent present obligations resulting from employees’ 
services provided to reporting date. These are calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and 
salary rates that the consolidated entity expects to pay as at 
reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers’ 
compensation insurance and payroll tax. Non-accumulating 
non-monetary benefits, such as medical care, housing, cars 
and free or subsidised goods and services, are expensed 
based on the net marginal cost to the consolidated entity 
as the benefits are taken by the employees.

(iv)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the 
Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility 
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date. Termination 
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the 
Group has made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, 
it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably.

(v)  Share‑based payment transactions
The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is 
recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period in which the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount 
recognised is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share 
options that vest, except for those that fail to vest due to 
market conditions not being met.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect 
of share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, is 
recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in 
liabilities, over the period in which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured 
at each reporting date and at settlement date. Any changes 
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as personnel 
expense in profit or loss.

The fair value of employee stock options and share 
appreciation rights is measured using a Monte Carlo model. 
Measurement inputs include share price on measurement 
date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility 
(based on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for 
changes expected due to publicly available information), 
weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on 
historical experience and general option holder behaviour), 
expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on 
government bonds). Service and non-market performance 
conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into 
account in determining fair value.

When the Company grants options over its shares to 
employees of subsidiaries, the fair value at grant date is 
recognised as an increase in the investments in subsidiaries, 
with a corresponding increase in equity over the vesting period 
of the grant.

(p)  Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the 
consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Make‑good obligation
The provision is the best estimate of the present value of the 
expenditure required to restore leasehold premises to their 
original condition at the balance sheet date, as required by the 
operating lease agreement. The provision is reviewed annually 
and any changes are reflected in the present value of the 
make-good provision at the end of the reporting period.

(q)  Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. 
Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally 
settled on 30-day terms.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

1.  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)  Revenue
(i)  Wagering and Gaming revenue
Revenue represents the net receipts of winning bets and losing 
bets in respect of wagering and casino gaming products and 
total commissions received from poker games. Gambling 
revenue from bets placed on wagering and casino gaming 
products are recognised upon the resulting of a bet. Bets 
placed but not yet resulted are measured at fair value.

(ii)  Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering services is recognised when the fee in 
respect of the services provided becomes receivable.

(iii)  Other income
Interest income generated on cash balances held, is included 
in other income as it is income earned in the ordinary course 
of business. Interest income is recognised in the income 
statements as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

(s)  Expenses
Financing costs
Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings 
calculated using the effective interest method and foreign 
exchange gains and losses that are recognised in the income 
statement. Interest costs are expensed as incurred and 
included in net financing costs. Loan Establishment Costs are 
capitalised as incurred and expensed over the life of the loan.

(t)  Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income 
statements except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised 
in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable 
in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

The following temporary differences are not provided for:

–  initial recognition of goodwill;
–  the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 

neither accounting nor taxable profit; and
–  differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to 

the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of 
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to 
pay the related dividend.

(i)  CK Racing and Centrebet Gaming NV
Income tax expense relating to CK Racing is calculated 
on operating profit at the applicable marginal tax rate for 
Con Kafataris, after an applicable service fee is charged by 
Centrebet Pty Limited to CK Racing. Income tax expense for 
Centrebet Gaming NV is based on the company tax rate for 
the Netherlands Antilles.

(ii)  Tax consolidation
The Company is the head entity in a tax-consolidated group 
comprising the Company and all of its Australian wholly owned 
subsidiaries.

The current and deferred tax amounts for the tax-consolidated 
group are allocated among the entities in the Group using 
a “group allocation method” approach. Deferred tax assets 
and deferred tax liabilities are measured by reference to the 
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the Company’s 
balance sheet and their tax values applying under tax 
consolidation.

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses assumed by the head entity 
from the subsidiaries in the tax-consolidated group are 
recognised as amounts receivable or payable to other entities 
in the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax 
funding arrangements (refer below). Any difference between 
these amounts is recognised by the Company as an equity 
contribution to or distribution from the subsidiary. Distributions 
firstly reduce the carrying amount of the investment in the 
subsidiary and are then recognised as revenue.

The Company recognises deferred tax assets arising from 
unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits of the 
tax-consolidated group will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised.

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets 
arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised 
assessments of the probability of recoverability is recognised 
by the head entity only.

(iii)   Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing 
arrangements

The members of the tax-consolidated group have entered 
into a tax funding arrangement which sets out the funding 
obligations of members of the tax-consolidated group in 
respect of tax amounts. The tax funding arrangements require 
payments to/from the Company equal to the current tax liability 
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(asset) assumed by the Company and any tax-loss deferred 
tax asset assumed by the Company, resulting in the Company 
recognising inter-entity receivables (payables) in the separate 
financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group equal in amount to the tax liability (asset) assumed.

The inter-entity receivables (payables) are at call.

The Company recognises the assumed current tax amounts 
as current tax liabilities (assets), adding to its own current tax 
amounts, since they are also due to or from the same taxation 
authority. The current tax liabilities (assets) are equivalent to the 
tax balances generated by external transactions entered into 
by the tax-consolidated group. Contributions to fund the 
current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding 
arrangement and reflect the timing of the Company’s 
obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant 
tax authorities.

The members of the tax-consolidated group have also entered 
into a tax sharing agreement. The tax sharing agreement 
provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax 
liabilities between the entities should the Company default 
on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised in the financial statements in respect of this 
agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing 
agreement is considered remote.

(u)  Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the consolidated 
entity that is engaged either in providing products or services 
(business segment), or in providing products or services within 
a particular economic environment (geographical segment), 
which is subject to risks and returns that are different from 
those of other segments.

The consolidated entity does not report its operations in either 
a business or geographical segment format as it operates in a 
single business segment that does not include products and 
services with significantly differing risks and returns. While 
there may be dissimilarities with respect to one or several of the 
factors in the definition of a business segment, the products 
and services included in the single business segment are 
expected to be similar with respect to a majority of the factors.

(v)  Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 
In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

GST associated with wagering revenue (Global GST) is 
brought to account in the income statements as an expense 
item. Pursuant to agreements between Federal and State 
Governments, any State wagering taxes payable are reduced 
by the Global GST payable and remitted to the State 
Government. Any State wagering taxes payable are brought 
to account in the income statements.

(w)  Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing the net 
profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the consolidated 
entity for the reporting period, after excluding any costs of 
servicing equity, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS earnings 
adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs associated 
with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on 
revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive 
potential ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus issue.

(x)  Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class 
Order, amounts in the financial report and Directors’ Report 
have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, 
unless otherwise stated.

(y)  Accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with AASBs 
requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and 
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. These accounting policies have been 
consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Management discussed with the Audit, Compliance and Risk 
Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the 
consolidated entity’s critical accounting policies and estimates 
and the application of these policies and estimates. The 
estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.
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1.  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite 
useful lives
The consolidated entity assesses whether goodwill and 
intangibles with indefinite useful lives are impaired at least 
annually in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 15. 
These calculations involve an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill and 
intangibles with indefinite useful lives are allocated.

(z)  Pending bets
Amounts received from customers on wagering events that 
have not occurred by the end of the year are accounted for as 
a financial liability. The fair value of the pending bets liability 
is assessed at year end and any fair value adjustments are 
recognised in the income statement. The fair value of pending 
bets is calculated at balance date using the average win rate 
for the period and the latest available prices.

(aa)   New standards and interpretations available 
for early adoption

The following standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations have been identified as those which may impact 
the entity in the period of initial application. They were available 
for early adoption but have not been applied by the 
consolidated entity in these financial statements:

– AASB 3 Business Combinations changes the application 
of acquisition accounting for business combinations and 
the accounting for non-controlling (minority) interests. 
Key changes include: the immediate expensing of 
all transaction costs; measurement of contingent 
consideration at acquisition date with subsequent 
changes through the income statement; measurement of 
non-controlling (minority) interests at full fair value or the 
proportionate share of the fair value of the underlying net 
assets; guidance on issues such as reacquired rights and 
vendor indemnities; and the inclusion of combinations by 
contract alone and those involving mutuals. The revised 
standard becomes mandatory for the consolidated 
entity’s 30 June 2010 financial statements. The 
consolidated entity has not yet determined the potential 
effect of the revised standard on the consolidated entity’s 
financial report.

– AASB Operating Segments introduces the 
“management approach” to segment reporting. AASB 8, 
which becomes mandatory for the consolidated entity’s 
30 June 2010 financial statements, will require the 
disclosure of segment information based on the internal 
reports regularly reviewed by the consolidated entity’s 
Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to assess each 
segment’s performance and to allocate resources to 
them. Currently the consolidated entity does not report 
its operations in either a business or geographical 
segment format as it operates in a single business 
segment that does not include products and services 
with significantly differing risks and returns. While there 
may be dissimilarities with respect to one or several of 
the factors in the definition of a business segment, the 
products and services included in the single business 
segment are expected to be similar with respect to a 
majority of the factors.

– Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 
(September 2007) introduces as a financial statement 
(formerly “primary” statement) the “statement of 
comprehensive income”. The revised standard does 
not change the recognition, measurement or disclosure 
of transactions and events that are required by other 
AASBs. The revised AASB 101 will become mandatory 
for the consolidated entity’s 30 June 2010 financial 
statements. The consolidated entity has not yet 
determined the potential effect of the revised standard 
on the consolidated entity’s disclosures.

– Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs removes the option 
to expense borrowing costs and requires that an entity 
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset as part of the cost of that asset. The revised 
AASB 123 will become mandatory for the consolidated 
entity’s 30 June 2010 financial statements and will 
constitute a change in accounting policy for the 
consolidated entity. In accordance with the transitional 
provisions the consolidated entity will apply the revised 
AASB 123 to qualifying assets for which capitalisation 
of borrowing costs commences on or after the effective 
date. The consolidated entity has not yet determined 
the potential effect of the revised standard on the 
consolidated entity’s financial report.

– Revised AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements changes the accounting for investments in 
subsidiaries. Key changes include: the remeasurement 
to fair value of any previous/retained investment when 
control is obtained/lost, with any resulting gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss; and the treatment of 
increases in ownership interest after control is obtained 
as transactions with equity holders in their capacity 
as equity holders. The revised standard will become 
mandatory for the consolidated entity’s 30 June 2010 
financial statements. The consolidated entity has not yet 
determined the potential effect of the revised standard 
on the consolidated entity’s financial report.

– AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standard – Share-based payment: Vesting Conditions 
and Cancellations changes the measurement of 
share-based payments that contain non-vesting 
conditions. AASB 2008-1 becomes mandatory for the 
consolidated entity’s 30 June 2010 financial statements. 
The consolidated entity has not yet determined the 
potential effect of the revised standard on the 
consolidated entity’s financial report.

– Al 13 Customer Loyalty Programs addresses 
the accounting by entities that operate, or otherwise 
participate in, customer loyalty programs under which the 
customer can redeem credits for awards such as free or 
discounted goods or services. Al 13 becomes mandatory 
for the consolidated entity’s 30 June 2009 financial 
statements. The consolidated entity has not yet 
determined the potential effect of the revised standard on 
the consolidated entity’s financial report.
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2.  Revenue/other income
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Revenue includes the following items

Wagering   45,598 47,065 – –

Gaming   17,100 11,864 – –

Total revenue   62,698 58,929 – –

Other income includes the following items

Service fees   722 632 – –

Dividends received   – – 12,322 –

Interest received   1,585 1,015 27 6

Other    15 – – –

Total other income   2,322 1,647 12,349 6

3.  Personnel expenses
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Wages and salaries   12,440 11,760 – –

Other associated personnel expenses  2,310 2,770 – –

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds  1,210 1,161 – –

(Decrease)/increase in liability for annual leave  (108) 135 – –

(Decrease)/increase in liability for long service leave  (32) 100 – –

Share-based payments – cash settled  19 8 – –

Share-based payments – equity settled  118 130 – –

     15,957 16,064 – –
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4.  Auditors’ remuneration
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($) ($) ($) ($)

Audit services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

 Audit and review of financial reports  370,000 370,000 – –

Overseas KPMG firms:

 Audit and review of financial reports  52,993 50,400 – –

     422,993 420,400 – –

Other services

Auditors of the Company

KPMG Australia:

 Other advisory services   – 1,055,910 – –

 Taxation services   446,682 157,082 – –

     446,682 1,212,992 – –

All fees relating to the Company were paid by a controlled entity.

5.  Finance (costs)/income
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Interest expense   (325) (152) – (5)

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain   (265) 336 – –

Total Finance (costs)/income  (590) 184 – (5)
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6.  Income tax expense/(benefit)
Recognised in the income statement
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Current tax expense/(benefit)

Current year   2,292 1,725 (64) 229

Adjustments for prior years   203 (104) 46 (104)

     2,495 1,621 (18) 125

Deferred tax expense/(benefit)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (561) (35) – 8

Benefit of tax losses recognised  – (194) – (194)

     (561) (229) – (186)

Total income tax expense/(benefit) in income statement  1,934 1,392 (18) (61)

Numerical reconciliation between tax  
expense/(benefit) and pre‑tax net profit

Profit/(loss) before tax – continuing operations  14,942 12,526 12,109 (94)

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30%  
(2007: 30%)   4,483 3,758 3,633 (28)

Increase in income tax expense due to:

 Non-deductible expenses  17 232 – –

 Non-assessable income  – – (3,697) –

 Non-deductible UK loss   – 66 – –

 Bad debt write-off   – (345) – –

     4,500 3,711 (64) (28)

 UK tax losses not previously brought to account  (42) – – –

 Effect on tax rate in foreign jurisdictions  (2,727) (1,773) – –

 Effect of tax losses recognised  – (194) – (194)

Over provision in previous years  203 (104) 46 (104)

Adjustment to prior year deferred tax balances  – (248) – 265

Income tax expense/(benefit) on pre‑tax net profit  1,934 1,392 (18) (61)

Income tax recognised directly in equity

Deductible transaction costs in relation to the equity portion  
of IPO    (324) (456) – –
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7.  Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share at 30 June 2008 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$13,008,000 (2007: $11,134,000 profit) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2008 of 87,296,690 (2007: 86,609,081), calculated as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
  Consolidated

       2008 2007 
      Note ($’000) ($’000)

Profit for the period     13,008 11,134

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders    13,008 11,134

       2008 2007

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July    19 87,296,690 64,665,079

Shares issued pursuant to Share Issue    – 21,929,680

Shares issued pursuant to Employee Share Plan    – 14,322

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June    87,296,690 86,609,081

Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2008 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
$13,008,000 (2007: $11,134,000 profit) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year 
ended 30 June 2008 of 88,362,137 (2007: 87,126,240), calculated as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)
  Consolidated

       2008 2007 
       ($’000) ($’000)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders    13,008 11,134

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (diluted)    13,008 11,134

       2008 2007

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June    87,296,690 86,609,081

Effect of share options and performance rights on issue    1,065,447 517,159

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 30 June    88,362,137 87,126,240

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)    14.9 12.9

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)    14.7 12.8

The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on 
quoted market prices for the period that the options were outstanding.
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8.  Cash and cash equivalents
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Cash at bank and on hand  20 45,571 45,680 8 350

9.  Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade receivables   3,146 2,869 – –

Provision for impairment losses  (194) (619) – –

Receivables due from controlled entities  – – 63,050 62,192

     20 2,952 2,250 63,050 62,192

Amounts receivable from related parties are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

10.  Other current assets
Prepayments   1,337 1,323 – –

Other    1,040 923 – –

     2,377 2,246 – –

11.  Income tax payable/receivable
The current tax liability for the consolidated entity of $146,000 (2007: $333,000), represents the amount of income taxes payable 
in respect of current and prior financial periods.

The current tax asset for the Company of $64,000 as at 30 June 2008, represents the amount of income taxes receivable in 
respect of current and prior financial periods. The current tax liability for the Company of $123,000 as at 30 June 2007, 
represented the amount of income taxes payable in respect of prior periods.

In accordance with the tax consolidation legislation, the Company as the head entity of the Australian tax-consolidated group, 
has assumed the current tax liability (asset) initially recognised by the members in the tax-consolidated group.

12.  Investments
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑current investments

Investment in controlled entities – at cost  20 – – 525 388
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13.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

 Assets Liabilities Net

   2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Consolidated

Intangible assets – software  – – (1,211) (500) (1,211) (500)

Accrued expenses  32 131 – – 32 131

Doubtful debts  49 10 – – 49 10

Unrealised exchange loss/(gain)  39 – – (97) 39 (97)

Employee benefits  376 413 – – 376 413

IPO and business establishment costs  675 624 – – 675 624

Other items  75 20 2 (3) 77 17

Net tax assets/(liabilities)  1,246 1,198 (1,209) (600) 37 598

Movement in temporary differences during the year

 Consolidated The Company

   Balance   Balance Balance   Balance 
   1 July Recognised Recognised 30 June 1 July Recognised Recognised 30 June 
   2006 in income in equity 2007 2006 in income in equity 2007 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Intangible assets (160) (340) – (500) – – – –

Accrued expenses 110 21 – 131 8 (8) – –

Doubtful debts 118 (108) – 10 – – – –

Unrealised exchange  
(gain)/loss 151 (248) – (97) – – – –

IPO and business  
establishment costs – 168 456 624

Employee benefits 347 66 – 413 – – – –

Other items (3) 20 – 17 – – – –

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 563 (421) 456 598 8 (8) – –
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 Consolidated The Company

   Balance   Balance Balance   Balance 
   1 July Recognised Recognised 30 June 1 July Recognised Recognised 30 June 
   2007 in income in equity 2008 2007 in income in equity 2008 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Intangible assets (500) (711) – (1,211) – – – –

Accrued expenses 131 (99) – 32 – – – –

Doubtful debts 10 39 – 49 – – – –

Unrealised exchange  
(gain)/loss (97) 136 – 39 – – – –

Employee benefits 413 (37) – 376 – – – –

IPO and business  
establishment costs 624 (273) 324 675 – – – –

Other items 17 60 – 77 – – – –

   598 (885) 324 37 – – – –

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Tax losses – UK subsidiary   1,950 2,266 – –

Tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items 
because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the consolidated entity can utilise the benefits 
there from.
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14.  Plant and equipment
 Consolidated The Company

   Plant Leasehold   Plant Leasehold 
   and improve- Motor  and improve- Motor 
   equipment ments vehicles Total equipment ments vehicles Total 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2006 9,185 430 190 9,805 – – – –

Acquisitions 1,308 – – 1,308 – – – –

Effect of movements in  
foreign exchange (25) – – (25) – – – –

Disposals (770) (430) – (1,200) – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2007 9,698 – 190 9,888 – – – –

Balance at 1 July 2007 9,698 – 190 9,888 – – – –

Acquisitions 426 – – 426 – – – –

Effect of movements in  
foreign exchange (2) – – (2) – – – –

Disposals – – – – – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2008 10,122 – 190 10,312 – – – –

Depreciation and 
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2006 (5,985) (430) (153) (6,568) – – – –

Depreciation charge  
for the year (1,247) – (8) (1,255) – – – –

Transfer to related entity – – – – – – – –

Effect of movements in  
foreign exchange 18 – – 18 – – – –

Disposals 690 430 – 1,120 – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2007 (6,524) – (161) (6,685) – – – –

Balance at 1 July 2007 (6,524) – (161) (6,685) – – – –

Depreciation charge  
for the year (1,205) – (6) (1,211) – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2008 (7,729) – (167) (7,896) – – – –

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2006 3,200 – 37 3,237 – – – –

At 30 June 2007 3,174 – 29 3,203 – – – –

At 1 July 2007 3,174 – 29 3,203 – – – –

At 30 June 2008 2,393 – 23 2,416 – – – –
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15.  Intangible assets
 Consolidated The Company

     Computer    Computer 
   Goodwill Trademarks software Total Goodwill Trademarks software Total 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2006 39,449 500 9,580 49,529 – – – –

Acquisitions – – 1,433 1,433 – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2007 39,449 500 11,013 50,962 – – – –

Balance at 1 July 2007 39,449 500 11,013 50,962 – – – –

Acquisitions – – 2,830 2,830 – – – –

Disposals – – (480) (480)

Balance at 30 June 2008 39,449 500 13,363 53,312 – – – –

Amortisation and 
impairment losses

Balance at 1 July 2006 – (67) (8,008) (8,075) – – – –

Amortisation for the year – (25) (528) (553) – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2007 – (92) (8,536) (8,628) – – – –

Balance at 1 July 2007 – (92) (8,536) (8,628) – – – –

Amortisation for the year – (25) (942) (967) – – – –

Disposals – – 480 480

Balance at 30 June 2008 – (117) (8,998) (9,115) – – – –

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2006 39,449 433 1,572 41,454 – – – –

At 30 June 2007 39,449 408 2,477 42,334 – – – –

At 1 July 2007 39,449 408 2,477 42,334 – – – –

At 30 June 2008 39,449 383 4,365 44,197 – – – –

Amortisation and impairment charge
The amortisation and impairment charge is recognised in the following line items in the income statements:

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Depreciation and amortisation  2,178 1,808 – –

Impairment tests for cash generating units containing goodwill
The recoverable amount of intangible assets has been considered as part of the cash-generating unit being the Wagering and 
Gaming business based on value in use calculations. These calculations include the use of cash flow projections based on actual 
operating results, a five-year business plan and an estimate of the residual value at the end of that period. The forecast growth 
rate of 10% is consistent with the long-term average growth rate for the industry, and a pre-tax discount rate of 17% (2007: 15%) 
has been used in discounting the projected cash flows. The residual value has been estimated with reference to the forecast 
cash flows at the end of the fifth year using a growth rate of 5%.
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16.  Trade and other payables
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Current liabilities

Trade creditors   710 149 – –

Client accounts payable   19,326 18,422 – –

Amounts owing to related parties  5 – – –

Amounts owing to controlled entities  – – 242 –

Other payables and accrued expenses  2,311 3,022 27 –

Pending bets   1,820 2,589 – 9

     20 24,172 24,182 269 9

Amounts payable to related parties are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

Pending bets
The carrying amount of the pending bets liability is not significantly different from the amount that the consolidated entity is 
expected to pay out at maturity for these pending bets, which are deemed to be financial instruments. Of the pending bets at 
30 June 2008, the total balance is due to mature in the year ending 30 June 2009.

Pending bets are non-interest-bearing. There is no interest rate or credit risk associated with open sports bets. A currency risk 
may arise where such bets are denominated in a currency other than the Australian dollar. This currency risk is not considered 
significant as any payout on such bets is made in the same currency as that in which the bet was originally staked.

17.  Interest‑bearing loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the consolidated entity’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

For more information about the consolidated entity’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, see note 20.

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
    Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑current liabilities

Secured bank loans   20 17,071 17,071 17,071 17,071

Costs related to loan to be expensed on a straight-line  
basis over the life of the loan (five years)  (298) (356) (298) (356)

     16,773 16,715 16,773 16,715

Financing arrangements
Bank loans
On 21 December 2006 the Company entered into a Facilities Agreement with the Commonwealth Bank which included a 
revolving loan facility. The earliest repayment date of the revolving loan is 21 December 2010 and its maturity date is 
22 December 2011. Due to the length of time until repayment date the loan has been classified as a non-current liability.

Transaction costs of $395,000 associated with the loan have been capitalised and are being expensed on a straight-line basis 
over the life of the loan.

As at 30 June 2008 the maximum amount of the facility was $25,000,000 with the total amount utilised being $17,071,000 in the 
form of a secured bank loan and $1,610,000 in bank guarantees described in note 23. The borrowings are secured by a fixed 
and floating charge over the assets of the Group and by mortgage of shares and a cross guarantee between all of the 
companies in the consolidated entity.
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Interest is determined as the rate of interest set each Monday, calculated by taking the average (rounded up to two decimal 
places) of the 30-day offer rate as shown on Reuters Screen page “BBSY” at approximately 11.00am Sydney time for each of the 
seven days up to and including the Wednesday before the day the rate of interest is set. An agreed margin is then added to this 
rate. In addition, Centrebet has an offset account whereby surplus cash is applied against the bank debt balance for the purpose 
of calculating the interest expense.

Bank guarantee/letter of credit
The Company has access to a $4 million bank guarantee/letter of credit facility which is part of the $25,000,000 facility, with the 
Commonwealth Bank, which is a committed facility, available to be drawn down at the Company’s discretion. At the date of this 
report the Commonwealth Bank has issued $1,610,000 of bank guarantees to various organisations and commissions as 
described in note 23.

18.  Employee benefits
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Current

Liability for long service leave   216 206 – –

Liability for annual leave   806 914 – –

     1,022 1,120 – –

Non‑current

Liability for long service leave   232 274 – –

(a)  Defined contribution superannuation funds
The consolidated entity makes contributions to the various superannuation funds that its employees are members of, being 
defined contribution plans. The amount recognised as an expense was $1,210,409 for the financial year ended 30 June 2008 
(2007: $1,161,299).

(b)  Short‑term Incentive (STI) Plan
Senior executives and other employees as determined by the Board may participate in the annual STI cash bonus plan. 
Participants will have the opportunity to receive up to a certain specified percentage of their remuneration in the form of a cash 
bonus depending on the level of performance of the consolidated entity as well as the level of performance of the relevant senior 
executive or other employee against their prescribed performance hurdles.

(c)  Long‑term Incentive (LTI) Plan
On 11 July 2006, the consolidated entity initiated an Employee Share Ownership Plan, for the benefit of employees and senior 
executives. The structure of the individual share plans forming the collective Employee Share Ownership Plan are summarised 
below:

–  Long-term Incentive (LTI) Plan – The basis of the LTI Plan will be the provision of equity instruments to the applicable senior 
executives and nominated employees. Ownership of those equity instruments will vest in those senior executives and 
nominated employees three years after the date of their allotment, subject to the satisfaction of certain performance 
hurdles. The LTI Plan consists of options which have an exercise price of $2.00 per share (11 July 2006 grant date) and 
$1.881 (3 September 2007 grant date) and performance rights which have an exercise price of nil per share.

–  Long-term Incentive (LTI) Plan – Cash Based performance rights have also been issued to non-Australian employees of 
the company. The terms and conditions of these performance rights are identical to the equity settled performance rights 
except that they are settled in cash upon vesting.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows – all options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares, while share 
appreciation rights are settled in cash:
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18.  Employee benefits (continued)
(c)  Long‑term Incentive (LTI) Plan (continued)

Grant date/employees entitled
Number of 

instruments Vesting conditions
Contractual life of 

options

Performance Rights granted to senior 
employees and nominated employees on

11 July 2006  – Equity Settled 
– Cash Settled

3 September 2007  – Equity Settled 
– Cash Settled

 

485,769 
58,545 

736,198 
60,937

 

Three years service subject to the 
Company meeting performance hurdles 
of a TSR compared to a comparator 
group

 

5 years

Performance Rights granted to key 
management personnel on

11 July 2006 – Equity Settled 
3 September 2007 – Equity Settled

 

26,856 
31,071

 

Three years service subject to the 
Company meeting performance hurdles 
of a TSR compared to a comparator 
group

 

5 years

Options granted to senior employees 
and nominated employees on

11 July 2006 – Equity Settled 
3 September 2007 – Equity Settled

 

130,052 
291,720

 

Three years service subject to the 
Company meeting performance hurdles 
of a TSR compared to a comparator 
group

 

5 years

Options granted to key management 
personnel on

11 July 2006 – Equity Settled 
3 September 2007 – Equity Settled

 

62,767 
156,154

 

Three years service subject to the 
Company meeting performance hurdles 
of a TSR compared to a comparator 
group

 
5 years

Employee Share Ownership Plan granted 
to employees on 11 July 2006

20,500 N/A N/A

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

     Weighted  Weighted 
     average Number average Number 
     exercise of exercise of 
     price options price options 
     2008 2008 2007 2007

Outstanding at 1 July   $2.00 192,819 – –

Granted during the period   $1.881 467,540 $2.00 192,819

Forfeited during the period   $1.920 (97,301) – –

Exercised during the period   – – – –

Outstanding at 30 June   $1.915 563,058 $2.00 192,819

Exercisable at 30 June   – – – –
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Of the 563,058 options outstanding at 30 June 2008 with a weighted average contractual life of five years, 160,306 options have 
an exercise price of $2.00 and a further 402,752 options have an exercise price of $1.881.

The issue of performance rights and options to eligible employees under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) is subject to the 
Company meeting its performance hurdles which is the performance of the Company relative to Total Shareholder Return (TSR).

The TSR hurdle measures the TSR of Centrebet against a nominated comparator group of companies listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX). The comparator group selected by the Board for this TSR measurement is the constituent 
companies included in the ASX Consumer Discretionary Spending Index.

The Consumer Discretionary Spending Index encompasses those industries that tend to be the most sensitive to economic 
cycles. The services segment includes hotels, restaurants and other leisure facilities, media production and services and 
consumer retailing. The sector takes all the ASX Media, Tourism and Leisure companies, and some of the ASX Retail 
Companies. Access to this Index can be obtained at the following website: www2.standardandpoors.com.

Share‑based payments
The number and weighted average exercise prices of performance rights are as follows:

     Weighted Number Weighted Number 
     average of average of 
     exercise performance exercise performance 
     price rights price rights 
     2008 2008 2007 2007

Outstanding at 1 July   $0.00 477,710 – –

Granted during the period   $0.00 884,256 $0.00 571,170

Forfeited during the period   $0.00 (285,288) $0.00 (93,460)

Exercised during the period   – – – –

Outstanding at 30 June   $0.00 1,076,678 $0.00 477,710

Exercisable at 30 June   – – – –

All performance rights outstanding at 30 June 2008 have an exercise price of $0 and a weighted average contractual life of 
five years.

The fair value of services received in return for share options and performance rights granted is based on the fair value of share 
options granted, measured using a Monte Carlo model, incorporating the probability of the relative total shareholder return 
vesting condition being met, with the following inputs:



Centrebet International Limited Annual Report 2008 56

18.  Employee benefits (continued)
(c)  Long‑term Incentive (LTI) Plan (continued)

     Key Key 
     management management Senior Senior 
     personnel personnel employees employees 
     2008 2007 2008 2007

Fair value of share options and assumptions

Fair value at grant date

  11 July 2006   $0.370 $0.370 $0.370 $0.370

  3 September 2007   $0.390 $0.390 $0.390 $0.390

Share price

 11 July 2006   $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00

 3 September 2007   $1.90 $1.90 $1.90 $1.90

Exercise price

  11 July 2006   $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00

  3 September 2007   $1.881 $1.881 $1.881 $1.881

Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)(A)

  11 July 2006   47% 47% 47% 47%

  3 September 2007   35% 35% 35% 35%

Option life (expected weighted average life)

  11 July 2006   5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

  3 September 2007   5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Expected dividends

  11 July 2006   4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65%

  3 September 2007   5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds)

  11 July 2006   5.81% 5.81% 5.81% 5.81%

  3 September 2007   6.14% 6.14% 6.14% 6.14%

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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     Key Key 
     management management Senior Senior 
     personnel personnel employees employees 
     2008 2007 2008 2007

Fair value of performance rights and assumptions

Fair value at grant date

  11 July 2006   $0.973 $0.973 $0.973 $0.973

  3 September 2007   $0.840 $0.840 $0.840 $0.840

Share price

  11 July 2006   $2.00 $2.00 $2.00 $2.00

  3 September 2007   $1.90 $1.90 $1.90 $1.90

Exercise price

  11 July 2006   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

  3 September 2007   $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)(A)

  11 July 2006   47% 47% 47% 47%

  3 September 2007   35% 35% 35% 35%

Option life (expected weighted average life)

  11 July 2006   5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

  3 September 2007   5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

Expected dividends

  11 July 2006   4.65% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65%

  3 September 2007   5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds)

  11 July 2006   5.81% 5.81% 5.81% 5.81%

  3 September 2007    6.14% 6.14% 6.14% 6.14%

(A) Expected volatility has been calculated with reference to a Comparator Group.

Employee expenses
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
In AUD  Note ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Employee shares granted in 2007 – equity settled  – 41 – –

Performance rights granted in 2007 – equity settled  93 75 – –

Performance rights granted in 2007 – cash settled  18 8 – –

Share options granted in 2007 – equity settled  25 14 – –

Share options granted in 2007 – cash settled  1 – – –

Total expense recognised as employee costs  3 137 138 – –

Total carrying amount of liabilities for  
cash-settled arrangements   19 8 – –

Total intrinsic value of liability for vested benefits  – – – –
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19.  Capital and reserves
Reconciliation of movements in capital and reserves
       Retained 
     Reserve  profits/ 
   Share Translation for own Other (Accumulated Total 
   capital reserve shares reserves losses) equity 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2006 7,550 (168) – – (6,730) 652

Total recognised income  
and expense – 79 – – 11,134 11,213

Issue of ordinary shares 45,153 – – – – 45,153

Share issue costs recognised  
in equity (net of tax) – – – (3,460) – (3,460)

Shares issued pursuant to  
Employee Share Plans 41 – – – – 41

Share-based payments – – 88 – – 88

Balance at 30 June 2007 52,744 (89) 88 (3,460) 4,404 53,687

Balance at 1 July 2007 52,744 (89) 88 (3,460) 4,404 53,687

Total recognised income  
and expense – 115 – – 13,008 13,123

Dividends paid – – – – (12,047) (12,047)

Share issue costs recognised  
in equity (net of tax) – – – 324 – 324

Share-based payments – – 118 – – 118

Balance at 30 June 2008 52,744 26 206 (3,136) 5,365 55,205

Company

Balance at 1 July 2006 7,550 – – – (3,256) 4,294

Total recognised income  
and expense – – – – (33) (33)

Issue of ordinary shares 45,153 – – – – 45,153

Share issue costs recognised  
in equity (net of tax) – – – (3,460) – (3,460)

Shares issued pursuant to  
Employee Share Plans 41 – – – – 41

Share-based payments – – 88 – – 88

Balance at 30 June 2007 52,744 – 88 (3,460) (3,289) 46,083

Balance at 1 July 2007 52,744 – 88 (3,460) (3,289) 46,083

Total recognised income  
and expense – – – – 12,127 12,127

Dividends paid – – – – (12,047) (12,047)

Issue of ordinary shares – – – – – –

Share issue costs recognised  
in equity (net of tax) – – – 324 – 324

Share-based payments – – 118 – – 118

Balance at 30 June 2008 52,744 – 206 (3,136) (3,209) 46,605

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Share capital
  The Company 
  Ordinary shares

       2008 2007 
       ($’000) ($’000)

On issue at 1 July     87,296,690 64,665,079

Shares issued pursuant to:

 Share Issue     – 22,611,111

 Employee Share Plans     – 20,500

On issue at 30 June – fully paid    87,296,690 87,296,690

Related party shareholding
At 30 June 2008 the Directors of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially through their related entities the following 
% of the share capital:

–  Directors (and related interests) 32.63 million shares (37.4%)

Ordinary shares – terms and conditions
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at meetings of the Company.

In the event of winding up of the Company, ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully 
entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity.

Reserve for own shares
The reserve for own shares is the share-based payments reserve for the equity settled portion of the options and performance 
rights.

Other reserves
Other reserves are the capital raising costs that were incurred in the Initial Public Offering (IPO) net of tax.

Dividends
During the financial year two dividends were paid. On 26 September 2007 a fully franked dividend of 9.3 cents per share 
($8,118,592) was paid and on 17 March 2008 a fully franked dividend of 4.5 cents per share ($3,928,351) was paid. After the 
balance sheet date the following dividend was proposed by the Directors. The declaration and subsequent payment of dividends 
has no income tax consequences.

   Cents Total amount Franked/ Date of 
   per share ($’000) unfranked payment

Final ordinary 6.0 5,239 75.0% Franked 26 September 2008

Total amount  5,239

The financial effect of these dividends have not been brought to account in the financial statements for the financial year ended 
30 June 2008 and will be recognised in subsequent financial reports. The dividend was paid out of the Company’s current 
year profit.
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19.  Capital and reserves (continued)
Dividends (continued)
Dividend franking account
  The Company

       2008 2007 
       ($’000) ($’000)

Franking credits available to shareholders of Centrebet International Limited for subsequent  
financial years based on a tax rate of 30% (2007: 30%)    938 5,337

The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end adjusted for:

(a) franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities;
(b) franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end;
(c) franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables by the tax-consolidated group at the 

year-end; and
(d) franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years.

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends.

The franking account balance at 30 June 2008 will be fully utilised following the payment of the dividend on 26 September 2008.

20.  Financial instruments and risk management
Overview
The Company and consolidated entity have exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:

– credit risk;
– liquidity risk; and
– market risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s and consolidated entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, their 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout this financial report.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. 
The Board has established the Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk 
management policies as outlined in the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement at pages 12 to 17. The committee reports 
regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company and consolidated entity, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s and consolidated entity’s activities. The Company 
and consolidated entity’s, through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit, Compliance and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s and 
consolidated entity’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Company and consolidated entity.

Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place for Australian clients only and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing 
basis. The consolidated entity does not extend credit to clients outside of Australia. Credit evaluations are performed on all 
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The consolidated entity does not require collateral in respect of financial 
assets.

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is 
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.
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The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The consolidated 
entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

  Carrying Amount

       2008 2007 
      Note ($’000) ($’000)

Trade and other receivables    9 2,952 2,250

Cash and cash equivalents    8 45,571 45,680

       48,523 47,930

Impairment losses
None of the Company’s receivables are past due. The ageing of the consolidated entity’s trade receivables at past due but not 
impaired the reporting date was:

       Gross Gross 
       2008 2007 
       ($’000) ($’000)

0 to 30 days within terms     1,996 806

31 to 60 days overdue     187 368

61 to 90 days overdue     385 15

Over 91 days overdue     384 1,061

       2,952 2,250

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

       2008 2007 
       ($’000) ($’000)

Balance at 1 July     619 1,594

Impaired     287 301

Released     (712) (1,276)

Balance at 30 June     194 619

The impairment losses at 30 June 2008 of $194,000 relate to client debit balances whose ability to pay amounts owing is in 
doubt. Additional amounts were written off directly to the income statement in 2008 and 2007.

At 30 June 2008 impairment reviews were performed on client debits balances and the consolidated entities believe the 
$194,000 allowance adequately covers expected impairment losses.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the consolidated entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The consolidated entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the consolidated entity’s reputation.

The consolidated entities reconcile bank accounts daily and regularly monitor cash flow requirements to ensure it has sufficient 
cash on demand to meet client balance payment requests, operational expenses and capital expenditure needs and 
commitments.

In addition, the Company has a $25,000,000 bank facility agreement to support its operational needs – see Note 17.
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20.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact 
of netting agreements:

Consolidated 2008
   Carrying Contractual 6 months 6–12   
   amount cash flows or less months 1–2 years 2–3 years 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑derivative financial liabilities

Secured bank loans(a) 17,071 21,321 805 805 8,681 11,030

Trade creditors 710 710 710 – – –

Client balances 19,326 19,326 19,326 – – –

Pending bets 1,820 1,820 1,820 – – –

   38,927 43,177 22,661 805 8,681 11,030

Consolidated 2007
   Carrying Contractual 6 months 6–12    
   amount cash flows or less months 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑derivative financial liabilities

Secured bank loans(a) 17,071 22,363 726 726 1,452 8,523 10,936

Trade creditors 149 149 149 – – – –

Client balances 18,422 18,422 18,422 – – – –

Pending bets 2,589 2,589 2,589 – – 

   38,231 43,523 21,886 726 1,452 8,523 10,936

Company 2008
   Carrying Contractual 6 months    
   amount cash flows or less 6–12 months 1–2 years 2–3 years 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑derivative financial liabilities

Secured bank loans(a) 17,071 21,321 805 805 8,681 11,030

Amounts owed to controlled entities 242 242 242 – – –

   17,312 21,563 1,047 805 8,681 11,030

Company 2007
   Carrying Contractual 6 months 6–12    
   amount cash flows or less months 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 
   ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Non‑derivative financial liabilities

Secured bank loans(a) 17,071 22,363 726 726 1,452 8,523 10,936

Pending bets 9 9 9 – – – –

   17,080 22,372 735 726 1,452 8,523 10,936

(a) The contractual cash flows for the secured bank loan is the contractual amount the consolidated entities would have to pay if the offset was not in place.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates (currency risk) and interest rates (interest 
rate risk), will affect the consolidated entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk
The consolidated entity is exposed to currency risk on revenues, cash and client balances that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of consolidated entities, primarily the Australian dollar (AUD). The currencies in 
which these transactions primarily are denominated are AUD, Norwegian Kronen (NOK), the Euro (EUR), Danish Kronen (DKK), 
Swedish Kronen (SEK), Sterling (GBP) and the US dollar (USD).

At any point in time the consolidated entity have a natural hedge of its cash and client balances denominated in the same foreign 
currency. The consolidated entities maintain and monitor, throughout the year, foreign currency cash balances to cover forecast 
client withdrawals for the coming month and excess amounts are repatriated to interest-bearing AUD bank accounts.

The consolidated entity’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date was as follows, based on notional amounts:

Consolidated 2008
$’000  AUD NOK EUR DKK SEK GBP USD All other Total

Cash and cash  
equivalents 40,725 2,851 1,054 438 174 143 135 51 45,571

Client accounts payable (9,611) (2,120) (2,974) (1,637) (746) (1,052) (939) (247) (19,326)

Pending bets (1,335) (148) (118) (29) (26) (73) – (91) (1,820)

Gross balance sheet  
exposure 29,779 583 (2,038) (1,228) (598) (982) (804) (287) 24,425

Consolidated 2007
$’000  AUD NOK EUR DKK SEK GBP USD All other Total

Cash and cash  
equivalents 42,028 2,222 50 583 54 383 270 90 45,680

Client accounts payable (9,853) (1,993) (2,627) (1,479) (595) (831) (897) (147) (18,422)

Pending bets (1,609) (240) (217) (69) (55) (110) – (289) (2,589)

Gross balance sheet  
exposure 30,566 (11) (2,794) (965) (596) (558) (627) (346) 24,669

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

  Reporting date 
 Average rate spot rate

AUD    2008 2007 2008 2007

NOK 1   0.208 0.222 0.207 0.200

EUR 1   1.649 1.659 1.650 1.594

DKK 1   0.222 0.222 0.222 0.214

SEK 1   0.177 0.181 0.175 0.172

GBP 1   2.229 2.459 2.083 2.366

USD 1   1.109 1.264 1.044 1.178
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20.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening of the Australian dollar against the following currencies at 30 June 2008 would have increased (decreased) 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2007.

 Consolidated

 30 June 2008 30 June 2007

     Equity Profit Equity Profit 
     Inc/(dec) or (loss) Inc/(dec) or (loss) 
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOK    – (58) – 1

EUR    – 203 – 279

DKK    – 123 – 97

SEK    – 60 – 60

GBP    41 98 54 56

USD    – 80 – 63

All other    29 – 35

     41 535 54 591

A 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the above currencies at 30 June 2008 would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

The Company does not have an exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date.

Interest rate risk
The consolidated entity currently manages its interest rate risk by offsetting cash balances against its interest-bearing financial 
liabilities as part of its Facilities agreement – see Note 17.

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

 Consolidated The Company

 Carrying amount Carrying amount

     2008 2007 2008 2007

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets   45,113 45,532 8 350

Financial liabilities   (17,071) (17,071) (17,071) (17,071)

     28,042 28,461 (17,063) (16,721)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
An increase of 200 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have no effect on equity and a $424,000 increase in 
profit of the consolidated entity. A decrease of 200 basis points in interest rates would have had the equal but opposite effect on 
the profit of the consolidated entity, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Fair values
Fair values versus carrying amounts.

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities at 30 June 2008 represent the fair values of those assets and liabilities at 
that date.
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21.  Operating leases
Leases as lessee
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Less than one year   533 419 – –

Between one and five years   1,408 973 – –

More than five years   – – – –

     1,941 1,392 – –

The consolidated entity leases property and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of three to 
10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are increased annually in line with movements in the 
CPI index. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2008, $722,994 was included as part of operating lease and maintenance expenses in 
the income statement in respect of operating leases (2007: $657,270).

22.  Capital and other commitments
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Capital expenditure commitments

Plant and equipment

Contracted but not provided for and payable:

Within one year   – 329 – –

     – 329 – –

There were no capital commitments as at 30 June 2008.

23.  Contingencies
Details of contingent liabilities and contingent assets where the probability of future payments/receipts is not considered remote, 
are set out below as well as details of contingent liabilities and contingent assets, which although considered remote, the 
Directors consider should be disclosed.

The Directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as it is not probable that a future 
sacrifice of economic benefits will be required or the amount is not capable of reliable measurement.

Guarantees
The consolidated entity has the following guarantees in place:

–  Commonwealth Bank Australia Ltd has provided a guarantee over the Licence with the Northern Territory Gambling and 
Racing Commission extended to Centrebet Pty Limited. The amount of the guarantee is $200,000. As at 30 June 2008 
$Nil has been drawn;

–  Commonwealth Bank Australia Ltd has provided a guarantee to St George Bank Limited for a guarantee over the Licence 
with the ACT Gambling and Racing Commission extended to SportOdds Systems Pty Limited. The amount of the 
guarantee is $250,000. As at 30 June 2008 $nil has been drawn;

–  National Australia Bank Ltd has provided a guarantee over the Licence with the WA Gambling and Racing Commission 
extended to SportOdds Systems Pty Limited. The amount of the guarantee is $250,000. As at 30 June 2008 $nil has been 
drawn;
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–  National Westminster Bank Plc has provided an International Merchant Agreement to Centrebet International Limited. 
Under this agreement Centrebet International Limited has guaranteed transactions with the Bank and expenses incurred in 
relation to these transactions to an amount of £2,500,000. As at 30 June 2008 $nil has been drawn;

–  A cross guarantee between all companies of the consolidated entity was signed on 21 December 2006 guaranteeing 
Centrebet International Limited borrowings from Commonwealth Bank of Australia. As at 30 June 2008 these borrowings 
were $17,071,012;

–  Commonwealth Bank Australia Ltd has provided a guarantee over the Licence with Racing NSW on behalf of the NSW 
Bookmakers’ Co-operative Limited extended to CK Racing. The amount of the facility is $1,060,000. As at 30 June 2008 
$Nil has been drawn; and

–  Commonwealth Bank Australia Ltd has provided a guarantee over the Licence with Racing Victoria on behalf of the 
Victorian Bookmakers’ Co-operative Limited extended to CK Racing. The amount of the facility is $100,000. As at 
30 June 2008 $Nil has been drawn.

The Directors are of the opinion that none of the above guarantees would result in a liability to the consolidated entity.

24.  Consolidated entities
  Percentage Ownership

Interest Country of Incorporation 2008 2007

Parent entity

Centrebet International Limited Australia

Subsidiaries

Centrebet Pty Limited Australia 100 100

SportOdds Systems Pty Limited Australia 100 100

G Promotions Pty Limited Australia 100 100

SuperOdds International Limited United Kingdom 100 100

Centrebet UK Limited United Kingdom 100 100

PriorityClear Limited United Kingdom 100 100

Controlled by G Promotions Pty Limited

Centrebet Gaming NV Netherlands Antilles 100 100

Controlled Special Purpose Entity

CK Racing Australia – –

The financial statements for all subsidiary companies incorporated outside of Australia are prepared under IFRS for the purposes 
of compiling the consolidated financial report.

Centrebet International Limited did not gain or lose control over any of the above controlled entities during the financial year.
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25.  Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the period   13,008 11,134 12,127 (33)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation   1,211 1,255 – –

Amortisation   967 553 – –

Investment write down   – 7 – –

Amortisation of loan establishment costs  58 39 58 39

Share-based payments   137 138 – –

Disposal of fixed assets   – 81 – –

Interest expense   325 152 – 5

Income tax expense/(benefit)   1,934 1,392 (18) (61)

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in working  
capital and provisions   17,640 14,751 12,167 (50)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (702) 5,399 – 95

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  (131) – – –

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  86 (5,252) 26 (39)

Increase in provisions and employee benefits  (140) (678) – –

     16,753 14,220 12,193 6

Interest paid   (325) (152) – (5)

Income taxes paid   (1,236) (475) (1,013) (459)

Net cash from operating activities  15,192 13,593 11,180 (458)

26.  Related parties
The following were key management personnel of the consolidated entity at any time during the reporting period and unless 
otherwise indicated were key management personnel for the entire period:

Non-Executive Directors Executive Directors

Graham Kelly (Chairman) Con Kafataris (Managing Director)

Max Donnelly Michael McRitchie (Finance Director)

George Kafataris

Key management personnel compensation
 Consolidated The Company

     2008 2007 2008 2007 
     ($) ($) ($) ($)

Short-term employee benefits   843,119 802,551 – –

Other long-term benefits   3,417 1,561 – –

Post-employment benefits   71,381 63,949 – –

Share-based payments   38,201 16,451 – –

     956,118 884,512 – –



Centrebet International Limited Annual Report 2008 68

All compensation payments to key management personnel were made by a controlled entity of the Company.

Amounts disclosed for remuneration of Directors and Executive officers exclude insurance premiums of $42,468 paid by the 
consolidated entity in respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance contracts which cover current and former Directors and 
officers, including Executive officers of the entity and Directors, Executive officers and secretaries of its controlled entities.

This amount has not been allocated to the individuals covered by the policy as, based on all available information, the Directors 
believe that no reasonable basis for such allocation exists.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the 
consolidated entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors’ interests 
existing at year-end.

Loans to key management personnel and their related parties
There were no loans outstanding at the reporting date to key management personnel and/or their related parties or at any time 
during the reporting period.

Other key management personnel transactions
A number of key management persons, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities that result in them having control 
or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.

A number of these entities transacted with the Company or its subsidiaries in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of 
the transactions with management persons and their related parties were no more favourable than those available, or which 
might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-Director related entities on an arm’s length basis.

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to key management personnel and their related parties were 
as follows:

 Consolidated The Company

   2008 2007 2008 2007 
Key management persons Transaction Note ($) ($) ($) ($)

Con Kafataris Service agreement (A) 1,370,375 650,000 – –

George and Con Kafataris Civic Video Pty Limited –  
 Shared service agreement (B) (9,880) (170,683) – –

(A) Mr Con Kafataris carries on business as a sole trader operating under the name of CK Racing.

 The consolidated entity provides CK Racing with all the necessary support services, research and infrastructure that are 
required to conduct that business. In consideration for these services, CK Racing pays a management fee to the 
consolidated entity. The consolidated entity will be responsible for the payment of all taxes on revenues earned by CK 
Racing in the course of the normal business operations of CK Racing.

 During the year CK Racing incurred $1,370,375, (2007: $650,000) in management fees payable to Centrebet Pty Limited. 
These amounts were eliminated on consolidation as CK Racing is a Controlled Special Purpose Entity.

(B) A shared services agreement is in place between Civic Video Pty Limited and Centrebet Pty Limited. This agreement 
provides for the purchase of common consumables and shared labour. The cost is borne by Civic Video and cross-charged 
to Centrebet on a “per head” basis.

There were no amounts receivable from and payable to key management personnel at reporting date arising from these 
transactions.

There were no non-arm’s length transactions between any key management personnel of the Company or its controlled entities, 
or their related entities and the consolidated entity during the 2008 financial year.

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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26.  Related parties (continued)
Other key management personnel transactions
Options and Performance Rights over equity instruments
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options and performance rights over ordinary shares in Centrebet 
International Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, 
is as follows:

       Vested and 
 Held at Granted as   Held at Vested exercisable 
 1 July compen-  Other 30 June during at 30 June 
 2007 sation Exercised changes 2008 the year 2008

Directors

Graham Kelly – – – – – – –

Con Kafataris – – – – – – –

Michael McRitchie 89,623(A) 187,225(B) – – 276,848(C) – –

Max Donnelly – – – – – – –

George Kafataris – – – – – – –

       Vested and 
 Held at Granted as   Held at Vested exercisable 
 1 July compen-  Other 30 June during at 30 June 
 2006 sation Exercised changes 2007 the year 2007

Directors

Graham Kelly – – – – – – –

Con Kafataris – – – – – – –

Michael McRitchie – 89,623(A) – – 89,623(A) – –

Max Donnelly – – – – – – –

George Kafataris – – – – – – –

No options or performance rights held by key management personnel are vested and not exercisable at 30 June 2008. 
No options or performance rights were held by key management personnel related parties.
(A) Calculated as 62,767 options and 26,856 performance rights.
(B) Calculated as 156,154 options and 31,071 performance rights.
(C) Calculated as 218,921 options and 57,927 performance rights.

Movements in shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Centrebet International Limited held, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows:

     Held at   Held at 
     1 July 2007 Purchases Sales 30 June 2008

Directors

Graham Kelly   10,000 – – 10,000

Con Kafataris   16,166,270 – – 16,166,270

Michael McRitchie   210,000 – – 210,000

Max Donnelly   75,000 – – 75,000

George Kafataris   16,166,270 – – 16,166,270

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

     Held at   Held at 
     1 July 2006 Purchases Sales 30 June 2007

Directors

Graham Kelly   10,000 – – 10,000

Con Kafataris   16,166,270 – – 16,166,270

Michael McRitchie   210,000 – – 210,000

Max Donnelly   75,000 – – 75,000

George Kafataris   16,166,270 – – 16,166,270

No shares were granted to key management personnel during the reporting period as compensation.

The ordinary shareholding for Con and George Kafataris includes their beneficial ownership through Racejest Pty Ltd.

Identity of related parties
The consolidated entity has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries (see Note 24) and with its key management personnel 
(refer to disclosures for key management personnel on preceding pages).

Other related party transactions
Subsidiaries
Loans are made by the Company to wholly owned subsidiaries for working capital purposes. Loans outstanding between the 
Company and its controlled entities are repayable on demand and are non-interest-bearing. During the financial year ended 
30 June 2008 such loans to/(repayments from) subsidiaries totalled $858,000 (2007: $1,812,000).

A loan of $17,071,000 between Centrebet International Limited and Centrebet Pty Limited is also in existence at 30 June 2008. 
This loan represents the loan amount with the Commonwealth Bank and is non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

Controlled Special Purpose Entity
Loans are made by the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries to the Controlled Special Purpose Entity, CK Racing. Loans 
outstanding between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries and CK Racing have no fixed date of repayment and are 
non-interest-bearing. As at 30 June 2008, the balance outstanding was $2,903,420 (2007: $3,959,225). These amounts relate to 
the management fees charged to CK Racing under a service agreement and have been eliminated on consolidation.

Transactions with related entities
The consolidated entity has paid rent of $448,768 (2007: $441,882) to a related entity, Aradhippou Grove Pty Limited, during 
the year.

27.  Subsequent events
The NSW State Government is in the process of implementing its Race Fields legislation requiring all wagering operators fielding 
on NSW racing to seek controlling body approvals and meet turnover fee obligations. This formally commenced on 1 September 
2008 and is proposed to be levied at 1.5% of turnover on NSW-based racing. This is estimated to cost the consolidated entities 
an incremental $500,000 in FY2009. The Company’s subsidiary, Centrebet Pty Limited, has obtained the necessary approvals 
and are presently in discussions with NSW racing authorities for these fees to be levied at a reduced fairer commercial level.

On 21 August 2008 a partially franked dividend (75.0% franked) of 6.0 cents per share ($5,238,859) has been declared to be 
paid on the 26 September 2008.

Other than above there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely in the opinion of the Directors of the Company to affect significantly 
the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity, in future 
financial years.
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1. In the opinion of the Directors of Centrebet International Limited (“the Company”):

 (a)  the financial statements and notes and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration Report 
in the Directors’ Report set out on pages 22 to 28, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the consolidated entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b)  the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(a).

 (c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

2.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the controlled entities identified in note 24 will be able to 
meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee 
between the Company and those controlled entities.

3.  The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Managing 
Director and Finance Director for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.

Dated at Sydney this 22nd day of September 2008.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Graham Kelly 
Director

directors’ declaration
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independent auditor’s report to the 
members of Centrebet international 
limited
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lead auditor’s independenCe 
deClaration under seCtion 307C 
of the Corporations aCt 2001
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shareholder information

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report 
is set out below.

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 August 2008.

A.  Distribution of equity Security Holders
   Number of equity Security 
Category Holders ordinary shares

1 to 1,000      598

1,001 to 5,000      716

5,001 to 10,000      264

10,001 to 100,000      148

100,001 and over      19

        1,745

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares of 313 is 51.

B.  Equity Security Holders
Twenty largest quoted equity Security Holders as at 31 August 2008
The names of the 20 largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

   Number Percentage 
   of ordinary of capital held 
Name shares held (%)

Mr Con Peter Kafataris 14,762,214 16.91

Mr George Peter Kafataris 14,762,214 16.91

Aust Executor Trustees NSW Ltd <TEA Custodians Limited> 9,231,863 10.57

Mr Peter Kafataris 8,512,214 9.75

Mr Arthur Con Papageorge 8,512,214 9.75

National Nominees Limited 7,416,803 8.49

Racejest Pty Limited 5,616,223 6.43

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 2,480,058 2.84

Cogent Nominees Limited 1,807,085 2.07

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,660,988 1.90

Cogent Nominees Limited <SMP A/C> 1,126,962 1.29

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 726,682 0.83

ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 597,090 0.68

RACQ Investments Pty Ltd 500,000 0.57

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <BKCust A/C> 428,950 0.49

Mr Kenneth Luke McNab 226,301 0.26

Itchie Pty Ltd <The Victor Family Account> 210,000 0.24

TIS Pty Ltd <The T/Sport Industry S/F A/C> 150,000 0.17

Rosherville Pty Ltd 110,000 0.13

Mr JR and Mrs BJ McIlwain 100,000 0.11

Top 20 Total 78,937,861 90.41
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shareholder information continued

Voluntary Escrow
At the date of this report, there are 9,500 restricted ordinary shares issued pursuant to the Employee Share Ownership Plan.

Voting Rights
Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each share held. On a show of hands every shareholder present in person or by proxy 
shall have one vote and upon a poll, every shareholder so present shall have one vote for every share held.

       Number on Number of 
       issue holders

Unquoted equity securities

ESOP Options     536,058 7

ESOP Rights     1,076,678 80

C.  Substantial shareholders
The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates as at 31 August 2008 are set out below:

Shareholder     Number held Percentage

Kafataris Family Interests including Racejest Pty Ltd    52,165,079 59.74

Fisher Funds Management Ltd    8,965,243 10.27

Renaissance Smaller Companies Pty Ltd    4,657,716 5.33

Quest Asset Partners Pty Ltd     4,392,788 5.03

D.  Voting rights
Ordinary shares
Shareholders are entitled to one vote for each share held. On a show of hands every shareholder present in person or by proxy 
shall have one vote and upon a poll, every shareholder so present shall have one vote for every share held.

Options
No voting rights.

E.  On‑market buy‑back
There is no current on-market buy-back.

F.  Other information
Shareholder enquiries
Shareholders with enquiries about their shareholdings should contact Centrebet’s Share Registry: Link Market Services Limited 
by telephone on (+61 2) 8280 7870 or by facsimile on (+61 2) 9287 0310.

Changed your address?
If you change your address, please promptly notify our Share Registry in writing. Please quote your Shareholders Reference 
Number and your old address as added security.

Investor information
Centrebet maintains a website at www.centrebet.com where information is available. For any further queries, please contact 
our Investor Relations on (+61 2) 9206 8933.

Stock Exchange Listing
Centrebet International Limited, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by shares.

The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX Code: CIL). The Home exchange is Sydney.
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